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Directors' report

The directors present their report and the audited financial staterments for the year anded 31 Decamber
2021.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company, which is unchanged since lasl year, is the importation, marketing and
distribution of fast-mowving consumer goods ('FMCG') and pharmaceutical non-medical products, The
Company oparstes within the ambient, chillad, frezen and fresh food, ice-cream, baby and kids care and
home and persona! care eegmants.

Ag part of itls poBcy for ongoing diverssfication the Company has considerably ncreased ifs presence in the
Pharma [non-medical} sactor and in so doeing It has succseded in reducing 15 historic dependence on tha
distribution of FMCG food products at & tima when he traditional grocery market is under increased mangin
comprassion from the strength of major relail playars,

Review of the business

As expected, 2021 was anolber eventful year with a number of unprediciable variables not least the effecis
af Braxit which indirectly and even diractly impacted on the business.

MEZ p o (formarty MAZ (Marketing) Limited) {the "Company™| faced considerable challenges following
the United Kingdom's axit fram tha Eurapean Union whereby the Company and its suppliers had to absorb
significant additional costs  Including  importlexport duties primanly due io sddibonal exhaustive
documantation and regulatory requirements for the movement of goods from the EU through the UK and
into Mala (back into the ELU).

Dwring the first half of 2021, a8 number of the Company’s mgjor brands were n ghorl supply and
conseguently the Company heavily invested in ensuring a tumaround of stock ta market in spite of tha
challenges faced and focused on increasing on regular inventory days and building sufficent stock halding
onshore

Today the Company's suppliers are actively working lowards bypassing the UK altogathar by sacuring
distribution lines from their hubs in mainland Europe to allow free movement of goods. The Comparny has,
where possible, also shifted sourcing of the portfalio from alternative Europaan locations such as Ialy.

Thi Directors ars pleased to report in spite of the complesities due to Braxll, the Company remains firmiy
on course o defiver consistent and robust performanca. The Company gained from a slrong recovery in
the second half of the year relative to the first half to the extant that the full year revenues have fully recouped
loss of buginess suffered during the first six months o closa the vear up 5.18% in revenue and 19.25% on
PBT (Profit before tax) on 2020,

The Company is also pleased to repart that it has completed the transformation and ransitioning process
to M&Z plc. in preparation of the IPO in 2022 - the year in which the Company celebrates its 100th year
anniversary

Clearly M&Z pl.c.'s strategy in reducing its reliance on the UK Heritage Branded Business {brands such as
Knorr, Bavrl, Colman's, Marmite, Hellman's eic.) sourced from Europe is seen to be succeeding as this has
intensifled the move on product diversification and source that is necessary to shore up the Company's
rasilbarice I macro market conditions ower which it has itte or no controd,
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Diractors’ report - continued
Review of the business - continuead

The Directors are pleased to announce that the Company has finaized proceedings on the transfer of the
Red October Company Limited's business at the end of the year and s in the process of onboarding the
full range of products in tha first half of 2022 The range of additional theugh complementary products should
broaden the Company’s product range and also extend its customer base as part of (he wider process in
broadering the Company's market reach.

Risks and Uncertainties
Likrakion confiict

The markets are still facing extraordinary supply and pricing pressures from the conflict in Ukraine which
will have a bearing on consumer spand as cleady some consumer refrenchment is inevitable in softening
the effests fram the spiralling cost of essential commodities and services - the quantitative effect of which
cannol ke estimaled with a sufficient degres of confidence.

Labour market candifons

The Company iz also concerned and is flagging up the prevalent, tight labour marke! conditions that are
weighing on the secior, paricutarly since the shodage of human resources is especially acute in distribution
to the estant that it is experiencing significant wage inflation and difficulty in servicing demand within regular
time framasa.

Hard discouniers

A5 in recent years this year has seen an Increase in foreign and looal hard discountars which import and
sall their own products and that are vying for market share with the Company's retail client base. As a result
of the diversified product offerings and permanently lower-priced products, improved shopping expariance,
and the increasingly price-sensilive shopper Company expecis that the presence of hard discounters will
continue to impact the sale of the Company's branded products.

cown-14

The angeing COVID-19 pandamic and possible future cutbreaks confinue 1o have advarsa effecls on the
Company and its business, including disruption of the business operations of the Company's various
suppliers (and their ability to meet their obligations {o the Company} and of the supply chain generally dua
to disruptions with transportation and logistics providers. Moreover, tha spread of disease among the
amployeas of the Company and resulting quarantine measures have also hindered employees from carrying
oul thair work and defvering the Company's products to its clientale,

The Company however is expecting itz foodservice business to slowly recover with the Company's
custemers in this segment, including hotels, cafes, restauranis, canteens and beach clubs, having bean
hard hil by governmental restrictions in order to curtail the spread of COVID-18,

Notwithstanding the chalenges the Company & reasenably confident in deliveding sensible growth in 2022
now that market normality finally seems in the process of actively being restored,

The Company's strategy and objectives are set out by the Company's Board, The Board considers its long-
standing history of dealing with impordation and disitibution of FMCG and ds repulation built on consumer
trust to be ifs core strengths,
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Directors’ report - corfinued
Future developments in the business

Due o ils position n the markat and the Company’s warehousing capabilities and standards, the Company
% able to represent a diverse portfolio of well-known househodd brands spresd across key product
categories, sourced from arcund the globe via suppliers with whom the Company today enjoys long-
slanding custormarsupplier relationships.

In addition to continuously actively sourcing key suppliers, anather growth strategy idenfified by the
Company's Board of Diraclors has bees tha extension aof the brand parifolio throwgh several succassiul
margers and acquisitions,

This activity has been key in driving the Company inlo new product segmenis allowing it fo increase and
diversily its product offering. The Board continues to regard this strategy as a key growth driver in order o
panedrate neaw markel segments and o continue o strengthen the Company’'s posifion wilhin existing
SRS,

Tha Campany andures to deliver long-teérm valua to its shareholders by growing the business sustainably
and ensuring consistent profitability through: 1) year-on-wear organic growth by aligning its business with
consumeas frands; ) continued interast and appetite for the acquisitions of FMCG bolt-on businesses with
high grawth potential; and iil) through leveraging of its expertise in developing its brand offerings.

Financial performance

Revenue for the company for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounts to €22750,482 (2020:
£21,630,742). Gross profit during the year amounted to €5, 308,707 (2020: €4,673,808) representing a 23%
(2020 22%) gross profit margin,

After taking Into conskideration administrative costs of €2 51867T (2020; €2.235,183), the company
registered an EBITDA of €3,580,1684 (2020. €3,118,633),

Financial position

Tha Company's total assel base slands at €14 450 856 (2020; €12,686,431). The main non-curment assets
comprise rght-of-use assels of €1,907,8081 (2020 €2 153,313} and property, plani and egupment of
€1,355.625 (2020: €1,490,027), At 31 December 2021, the Company's current assels amounted 1o
€10.788,412 (2020: €8,876,012) which primarily include trade and other receivables of €6,790 597 (2020
€5,104,329) and inventories of €3,546,694 (2020: €2,498,500). As at year end, non-current liabilities which
include leasa liabilities amounted to €1,801 829 (2020: €2,022,762). The Company's current habilities
amounted fo €4 443 816 (2020; €2, 390 BA5) which mainly consist of borrowings of €2, 051,653 (2020 €Mil),
frade and other payables of €1 906,144 (2020; €1 862, 832).

During 2021, the Company startad the process of restructunng its share capital in preparatian for the listing
of ils shares on the Malta Stock Exchange.

On 20 May 2021, the shareholders capitalized the M&Z Group Limited culstanding amount by issuing and
allotting 4,142,203 fully paid-up ordinary shares having a nominal value of one auro (€1} each in favour of
MEZ Group Limited.

On 3 Movember 2021, the shareholdars reducad iis share capilal from €12,043, 761 1o €6,580,064 resulfing
o €6, 460,863 In Ordinary share capital and €1,500,000 in Preference shares. The share capital raduction
wag carried out for the purpose of cffeetting the losses incurred by the Company as evidenced by it
neqgalive reserves amounting to £5,082 T97T (Note 12}
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Directors’ report - continued
Financial position - continuead

On 21 December 2021, the shareholders agreed to increagse the share capital by €30,03T by capilalizing
an egual amount from ratained earnings: 31,230 allocated to MEZ Group Limited and 7,807 allocated o
Vadala Holdings.

Events after the reporting period
Liztimg of M&Z p.lc. eguily on the Mala Stock Exchange

On 10 January 2022, the Company resolved to change the nominal value of the Ordinary shares from €1
lo €0.125 each. Pursuani fo the re-nominalisation, the Company's ssued shere capital consists of
7,000,000 divided info 44,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares heving a nominal value of €0,125 each and
1,800,000 cumulative redeemable preference share capltal of €1 each.

O 13 January 2022 ME&Z (Marketing) Limited changed s name o MBZ p.lc. and converled ils status from
a private o a public limited labilty company. Cerlain shargholders of the Company offered for sale
11,550,000 ardinany shares of the Company at an offar price of 80,72, pursuent to 8 prospectus dated 25
January 2022 for the lisfing of the Company's crdinary shares on the official list of the Malta Stock
Exchange.

The share offer was over-subscribed and on 11 March 2022, the Company has officially listed 11,550,000
prdinary shares of a nominal value of €0,125 per share on the official list of the Malta Stock Exchange.

Acguisilion of the represantafion nghts of wameus brands and refated assels

The Company concleded negoliations for the acquisition of the represaniation righls of various rands and
related assets from Red Oclober Company Limited. Through this ransaction, the Company is expanding
its range of product calegories through the acguisiticn of a numbar of wine, confectionery, spirts and
tobacco brands. Tha final confract was signed on 22 Decembear 2021, wih an effective data of 15 Januany
2022 and the representation nghis relating 1o the porfofic of brands held by Red Ociober Company Limiled
was consobdated within the Company’s portfolic as from the first guarter of 2023, This acouisition will aid
the Company o increase s presence inthe market and strengthen the Company’s HORECA offering. Tha
purchase consideration for this acquisition s €1,492 783 and was parlly funded by bank dabl amaounting to
£1.0 million, drawn down in 2022, with the remaining consideration amounting to €05 million lundad throwgh
accumulated resares.

Confiict in Ukraing

Fallowing the military action in Ukraine, the markels are again facing supply and pricing pressuras, which
will have a bearing on consumer spend as clearly some refrenchment is inevitable in partially mitigating
the spiralling cost of essential commedilies and services. This will inevitably alse exacerbate wage cost
inflation that is weighing on the sector because of an acute shorage of human rescurces especially in fhe
distribution sector. Such impact cannot vet be guantified at the tme of approval of these financial
statemeants,

Results and dividends

The statement of comprehansive income is set out on page 25. The directors have paid a nat interim
dividend of €1,832,047 {2020: €1,200,000) and declared a net final dividend of €Mil {2020: €Mil}.
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Directors’ report - continued
Going Concern Basis

Aftar making anguiras the Directors, al the lime of approving the financial statements, have determined that
thera is reasonabla expeciation that the Company has adeguate resources 1o continue operaling for the
foresseable fulura, For this reason the Diredlors have adepled the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statemants.

Additional Information pursuant to Capital Markets Rule 5.64

Details of the company's share capital ane disciosad in nole 11 1o the financial statements on page 47, The
Company's authorised share capital is €50,000,000, divided into 360,000,000 Ordinary Sharas of €0.125
each and 5,000,000 Preference Shares of €1 each. The Company’s issued share capital Is €7 ,000,0000
divided into 44,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €0.125 each and 1,500,000 Preference Shares of €1 each. Al
Shares in the Company rank parl passu In all respeds (save as oltherwise provided in the Memomandum
and Aricles of Association). The rights attached to the Preference Shares are identical to those attached fo
lhe Ordimary Shares, except for the fallowing:

i Voling Rights: the holders of Preference Shares shall not have a vote at general meelings
except on a resolution convened for the purpose of: a) reducing the capital of the Company;
or b) winding up of the Company; or c) a proposal to be submitted to the mesting that
direcily aflects their rights and privleges; or d) a proposal affecting the dividend on
Praference Shares when the dividend on their Shares iz in arrears for more than 8 monifs

i. Dividends: Preference Shares are entited to 8 fiwed cumulative preferred dividend
distribution of three percent [3%) of itz nominal value per annum, The Shares are anfitled
o recave dividends when, as and ¥ declared by the Board oul of the asseis lawfuly
available for such a purpozea. No dividend shall be paid to the Ordinary Shares in any given
vear, unless the preferred dividend for that year and any cumulative preferred dividend from
previous years would have been paid to the holders of the Preference Shares.

I, Rights upon liguidation, dissolution or winding-up: each Prefersnce Share shall, on a
winding up of the Company, carry the right 1o receive the retum of the paid-up nominal
value of such share together with any accrued but unpaid cumulative preferred dividenda
in priovity to any amounts of capital paid o the holders of other classes of sharee, but shall
noé carry any other right to participate in any sumplus assats of the Company following the
payment of such amount.

iv. Redemption Rights Subject o the provisions of the applicabla law of Malla, the Board shall
hawve the right to redeem the Preference Shares, at any time by giving nof less than ona (1)
week notice of the intention to redeem said shares, The Preference Shares may be
radeamad by nol faler tham 31 December 2030 and showd any such shares not be
radeemed wihin the same tme frame, the unredeemed shares shall thereaftar not be
redeemable, The amount payable on the redemplicn shall be the nominal vaue of the
Preferance Shares being redeemed, together wilh any accrued bul unpald cumulatve
preferred dividends

Registered sharehobders holding 5% or more of the equity share capital as st 31 Dacembar 2021 are as
fellows:

" Shareholder Approx. % Shareholding (total

| share capital by naminal valua)
ME&Z Group Limited (C 5208} 77.2%

Vadala Holdings Limited (C 4044) 22 8%
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Directors’ report - confinued
Directors & Company Secretary

The directors of the Company whio held office during the year were;

futr, Mathew &, Camilen

mir. Paul S, Camiller

Mirs. Erika Face Benelio

Wr. Thomas Aghis Yadala
M. Greta Camilled Avalione
Mr. Charles J, Famugia

Ms. Emma Pullicing

Wr, Kevin Rapinett

Mrs, Frances Fenech was appointed on 10 January 2022.
The Company's Arlicles of Association do not require any diréClors i redire.

Mr. Thomas Agius Vadala was the Company Secretary until his resignation on 14 October 2021, Mr Agius
Vadala was succeaded by Ganado Services Limited (C 10785) of 171, Old Bakery Steel, Vallelia VLT
1455, Malla.

Informalion on the rules governing the appointment and replacement of Directors, the amendments of the
MMemorandum and Articles of Association and he Powers of Direclors i contained In Section E of the
Statement by the Directors on compliance by the Company with the Code of pringiples for Good Corporale
Governance.
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Directors’ report - continued
Staterment of directors' responsibilities for the financial statements

The directors are required by the Mallese Companies Act (Gap. 386} 1o prepare financial statements which
give a trua and fakr view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of each repoding peried and of
the profit or loss for that period.

In praparing the firanclal statements, the directors are responsible for

e ensuring thatl the financial staterments have been drawn up In accordance with Intemational Financikal
Reperting Standards ('IFRSs") as adopled by the EL.

= galacting and appiying appropriate sccounting policies;
«  making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances,

s ensuring that the financial siatements are prepared on the going concern basis unless il is inappropriaie
to presume that the company will continue in business as a going concem,

The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining infemal control as the
direciors deferming is necessary to enabde the preparation of financial stalemenis that are fres from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and thal comply with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 388),
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assels of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and defection of fraud and other imegularities.

The financial statements of M&Z plc for the year ended 31 Decembear 2021 are includad in the Anmual
Report 2021 which is pubfehed on the Comparny's website (www.mz com.mi) and available in hard copy
printed form upon request. The direciors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual
Report on the website in view of their responsibility for the controls owver, and the security of, the website.

Access o nformation published on the Company’s website is available in oiher countnas and jursdictions,
where legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
requirements or practice in Malta.

Sincea the Company’s ordinary A shares were only listed on 11 March 2022 ihe Company has nol prepared
the Annual Repord and Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 in singhe
glectronic reporting format, In accordance with the reguirements of Capital Markets' Rule 5.56A. The
Comparny however wishes to clanfy that from the financial year ending 31 December 2022 It shall be
preparing its Annual Repor and Financial Statements in the single elecfronic reparting format and in full
compliance with the Capital Markats Rulas.

Statemant of Responsibiily pursuant fo Capital Markels Rule 568

Wi canfiem that to the best of our knowledge:
s lhe financial statements, prepaned in accordancs with the applicable accouniing standards, give a
brise and fair view of the assets, labilfles, financial position and profit or lose of the Comparny; and
¢ (he Directors’ report includes a fair review of the performance of the business and the position of
the Company, logether with & description of the principal rsks and uncerdainties that i faces,
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Directors’ report - continued
Auditors

FricewalterhouseCoopers have indicaled thair willingness to confinue in office and a resolulion for their re-
appointment will be proposad at the Annual Ganeral Mesting.

O behalf of the board /\
(-

Charles J. Fiieiyi Paul 8. Camilleri
Chairman Drreclar

MMGH Complex,
Irmdusirial Estate,
Marsa MRS 3000
Malta

27 April 2022
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Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “Company”) with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance

Tha Company acknowledges that the Code of Prncplas of Good Corporaie Govemance containad in
Appandix 5.1 to Chapter 5 of tha Capital Markels Rules (the 'Code’) does not prescribe mandatory rules
but recommends principles of good practice for the board of Directors (each a "Director” and collectivaly
the “Board”) and the Compamy's management (o pursue in the best interasts of the Company and ils
ghargholders, The Board balleves Lhat compliance with the Code and the govermance arangemeants
proposed thereby s nat only expected by stakeholders but evidences the Boarcs' and the Company's
cammitmant to a high standard of good govemance, Despde (ha fact that complance with the Code i not
mandatory upon the Company given thal the Company was nol listed an the Maita Stock Exchange as al
31 December 2021, tha reporting date, tha Company has valuniarty endorsed the Code and is heraby
reporting its compliance with the provigions thereof

The ordinary shares of the Company ware admitted to ksting on 11 March 2022, In terms of the Capital
Markets Rules ("CMRSs") issuad by the Malta Financial Services Autharity (the "MFSA”) companies whose
equity securities are listed on a regulated market should endeavour to adopt the Code of principles for Good
Caorporate Governance contained in Appendix 5.1 1o Chapter 5 of the CMEs (the "Corporate Governance
Caode” or “Code”)

The Board restates is full support of the Corporate Govemance Code and underakes to fully comply with
the Cod= io the exent thatl this s considered complementary to its size, nature and operalions. As at the
date of this siatement, the Board considers the Company to be in compliance with the Corporate
Eovernance Code, save for three excepiions as explained in Section B below. The Company is hershy
reporiing on the extent of s adoption of and compliance with the Code for the period covering financial
vear ended 31 December 2021, notwithstanding the fact that the ordinary shares were admilted fo listing
subsequent this parnad,

Inlerms of Aricle 116 of tha Company's Memorandum and Aricles of Association {"M&AS” ) administration
and management of the Company shall be vested in the Board, The Board is responsible for devising the
Company's values, standards and strategy, sstiing policies and the manegement of the Company as well
as reviewing internal control procedures, financisl performance and the business risks facng the Company.

The Board is composed of individuals who are fit and proper to direct the business of the company with
honesty, competence and infegrity and individuals who are diverse in their experience, knowledge, skills
and values, resulting in an optimum Beard sef-up, Moregver, the Direclors have besn made fully aware of
statutory and regulatory requirements connecied to the business of the Company, The Direclors affend the
majority of Board meelings and are provided with the relalive information in advance of said meelings in
oroer to permif tham io sllocate sufficient time fo the periormance of their responsibilitias.

The Board delegeles specific responsibilities to the Audit Committes and the Execulive Committee
icallectively the "Committees”), the former operates under ils own formal terms of reference approved By
the Board. Furher detail on said Commiitees and the responsibilities of the Board is contained in ihe below
subsections of this statement entited "Principie 4" and "Principle 5"

- 1|]
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Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&2Z p.l.c. (the “"Company") with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - continued

Principle 1 — The Board - confinued
Appolntment and Remaoval of Directors

The right to-appoint @ Director fo the Board is resarved to the ehareholders of the Company, save for where
an appointment is made to fill a vacancy on the Board, whera the Dirsctor may ba appointed by the Board
in terms of Aricle 130 = such director would then hold office until the next annual general mesling. Any one
ar mora sharaholder holding (individually or in the aggregate) shares carrying the voling righte equal fo
11.11% of the total number of shares carrying the right io allend and vele at a general mesting, shall for
avery 11.11% eo held be entitled to appoint one directar inm the Company. The procedures for the slection
of Directors shall be esiablished by the Company in general meeting from time to fime. The removal of
Directors is govermed by Aricle 133 of the Aricles of Associalion.

Principle 2 — Chairman and Chief Executive
Tha clear division of responsibilifies al the hesd of the Company bebwesn the running of the Board and the

sxecutive responsibilty for the running of the Company's busingss is evident in the fact thal the Company
has both a Chalrman of the Board (Mr. Charles Farrugia) and a Managing Director (Mrs, Grafa Camilleri
Avalkor ), This separation of roles serves (o avoid concentration of authonly and powar in a single Indvidual
and moreover differentiates the leadership on matters of the Board from leadership on matter rakating to the
aperations of the business of the Company.

The responsibilifies of both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Direclor are clearly established
and approved by tha Board. The responsibillties of the Chairman of the Board reflect thoee set out in Coda
Provision 2.2, while the Managing Director heads the Execulive Commities which is responsible for
management decisions in relation to business of the Company

Principle 3 — Composition of the Board

The Board believes that & fully complies with the requirements of Principle 3 and the relative Codea
Provisions, The Company is managed by 8 Board of nine {9) Direciors who are responsible for the pverall
direction, management and strategy of the Company.

Pursuant to generally accepted practices, as well 25 the MEAs, the appointmeni of directors to the Board
is resernved exclusively to the Company’s shareholders, except in so far as an appointmeant i3 made io fill &
vacancy on the Board

The Board is currently compnsad of the following persons:
« MrCharles Farrugia - Independent Mon-Executive Director & Chairman
= MrKevin J Rapinett - Independent Non-Executive Direcior
s MrMalthew Camilllerd - Non-Execullve Director
M Grata Camillzn Avallone - Managing Director
hir Paul Camillar - Executive Divacior
Mr Thornas Agius Vadala' - Execulive Director
Wrs Erika Peca Bonells - Execulive Dretiar
Mrs Frances Fenech - Executive Director (appointed 10 January 2022)
« Dr Emma Pullicing - Execulive Director

11
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Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “"Company”) with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - continued

Principle 3 = Compositfon of the Boeard - contnued

The Board comprises a mix of Individuals with a diverse array of skills and expenence which is appropriale
for the requiremenis of the business. The Board deems thal in its current composition, currenily comprising
a third of the Board being non-executive directors, has the required diversity of knowledge, judgement and
expedience o complete iz tasks.

Mr Charles Famugia and Mr Kevin J. Bapinett are the Independent Mon-Executive Direclors which are
deemed 10 be independent in line with the requirements of Code Provision 3.2, Neither of the independant
non-execulive direciors:

a  are or have baen employed in any capacity by the Company within the last threa (3) years;

b, have or had a significant business relationship with the Company;

C. received or receives significan! additional remunaration from the Company;

d, have close famiy fies with any of the executive members of the Board or senior management of
the Company;
has served on the board for mora than twalve (12} conseculive vears; or
iz or has been within the last three (3} years an engagement partner or a member of the audit tzam
of the presant or former exlernal auditor of the Company.

i}

For the purposes of Code Provision 2.4 each Non-Executive Director has dedlared in writing to the Board

that he undertakes;
a. tomaintain in all circumstances his independencae of analysis, dacision and action;

b, notto seek or accept any unreasonable advantages that could be considered as compromising his
independence; and

. focleary exprass his opposilion in the event that he finds that a dadsion of the beard may harm
the company.

Princi 4—-Tha R onsibl th i

The Board believes that it fully complles wilh the reguirements of this Principle and the relative Code
Provisions. As required by Prnciple 4 of the Code the foremost responsibiity of the Board is to establish
and mainizin a system of accountability, monilocring, stralegy formulafion and policy development for the
Company. The Board Members apply high ethical standards and take into sccouni the interesis of all
nabevant stakehaolders in their discussions and decisions,

The Board also takes upon itself the responsibility to regularly review and evaluate corporele strategy, major
operational and financial plans, risk policy, performance objectives and monitor implementation and
corporate perfiemancea within the parameters of all relevant laws, regulations and codes of best business
practice. Furthemmore, the Board Is responsible for the idenfification, assessment and managemeni of the
business risks facing the Company, oversight of the Company's intemal control systems and its financial
perfiormance, determination of the Company's siralegy and stralegic aims.

in he performance of such functions the Board has delegated ceraln functions to the Committess as furher
detailed below,
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MEZ p.lc. (Formedy MAZ [Marketing) Lirmited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Decamber 2021

Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “Company™} with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - conlinued

A, Compliance with the Gorporate Governance Gode - conlinued
d - continuod

In the later part of 2021 the Company sol up the Exacutive Committes, made up of eight core employees
who arg collectively responsible for decision-making on day-lo-day issues whilst eteering the Company
forward to ensure the malntenance, growth, evolulion and prosparity of the buginess acting on behalf of and
in fine with the long-term vision as established by the Board. The Executve Committee i composed of the
Managing Direcior (wha s also tha ink o the Board) of the Company and senior reprasentatives from tha
following segments within the Company: finance, operations, cost control, human resources, marketing,
brand management and sales management, The Executive Committes generally meeie every fortnighi.

Tha members of the Committee for the year under review are Mg Greta Camilizn Avallone, Mrs Erika Pace
Bonello, Mre Frances Fanech, ODr Emma Pullicing, Mr Christian Giordimaina, Mr George Zammit, Ma
Matacha Saliba and Ms Charmaing Sciberras. During fhe financial year ended 31 Deceamber 2021 the
Executive Committee met tao times.

Audit Commitiss

The Board has established an Audit Committes to assist it fulfilling its suparvisory and monitcring
responsibilities, according to detailed terms of reference that reflact the requirements of the CMRSs as well
a5 current good corporate governance best practices. The terms of reference of the Audit Commites
established by the Board set out its role and function, composition, the parameters of s remil, as well as
the basis for the processes that # is required to comply with.

The Audit Committee, which meets al least four imes a vear, s a sub-committes of the Board and iz directly
responsible and accountable to the Board, During the yvear under review, when the ordinary share capital
of the Company was nol yet listed, the Audit Commities met three Tmes. The primany purpose of the Audit
Committes is fo assist the Directors in conducting their role effectively so that the Company's decision-
making capability and the accuracy of its reporting and financial results are maintained ata high level at all
fimes.

Tha members of the Audlt Commities for the vear under review are: Mr Eevin J, Rapinett (Chairparson of
the Audit Committes) and Mr Charles Farrugia who are independent non-executive Directors (each of whom
gatisfies the independence criterz set out i the CMR=) and br Matthew Camdlen as non-sxecitive
Direcior. In acoordance with the CAMRE=, fhe members of the Audit Committes that are designated as
competent in auditing and’ or accounting are Mr Kevin J. Rapinett and Mr Charles Farmugia,

The Board believes that it fully complies with the requirements of Principle 5 and the relative Code
Provigions, In fire with the nature and demands of the Company's business the Board endeavours to meet
on a reqular basis and al said meelings the Divectors are given ample opporunity fo discuss and give thedr
ppinion on fhe various issues placed on the respaciive Board agendas.

The Chairman is responsible for the preparation of the Board agenda, which seeks 1o sirike 8 balance
between long-term strategic and shorter-term peformance issues, and for the general conduct of the Board
meatings. Minutes of the mastings are taken by the Company secretary (the "Company Secretary”] which
are subsequently circulated to tha Board, as soon as practicable afier the meeting, for their review prior to
approval al the following Board Maeling.
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M&Z p.lc. (Formady M&Z (Marketing) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Décambear 2021

Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “Company™) with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance . contnued

A, Compliange with the Corporate Governance Code - confinued
Pringiple 5 - Board Meetings - continuad

Dwuring the financial year ended 31 December 2021 the Board mel 7 imes, allendance at these meeatings
was as follows:

Board Member Meetings Alfended
Mr Chardes Farrugia

Mr Kevin J, Rapinett

Mr Matthew Camillen

Mz Greta Camillen Avallone
Mr Paul Camiller

Mr Thomas Agius Vadala'
Mrs Erika Pace Banelo

Dr Emma Pullicing

L e It o ) Tt |

inciple B — ion a sional Development

On 9 Movember 2021 Mrs Greta Camilleri Avallons was appointed as Managing Direcior of the Company
respansible to sieer the Compary's Executive Commiites and drive the Company's growih prospects. The
Managing Director and the Board are closaly involved in the recrultment and selection of any member of
senior management. The Board ansures that that all Direclors are supplied with precise, timely and clear
information so that thay can effectively contributa 1o the Board's decisions. The Board is in the process of
pslablishing a succession plan for sanior managament in terme of ¥s new respansibiities llowing the
listing of the Company's ordinary share capital on 11 Manch 2022

Tha Board is also responsible to ensure thal there s adequate ireining is provided o the Company's
Diractors, management and employees. The Board will organise and'or aftend professional development
sasskons as required 1o develop and update the Direciors’ knowledge and capabilitias.

The Directors have direct access to the advice and services of Ganado Services Limited (C10785), the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all corparate
povemance matiers. YWhere and as necessary the Board is also advised by its legal advisors.

Principles 9 & 10 - Relations with Shareholders and with the Market, and Institutional Shareholders

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining effective communication with the market and its
stakeholders in order to ensure that all stakeholders can clearly understand the Company’s objectives,
Besides using the general meeting to communicate with its shereholders the Company intends to issus
pencdical company announcements for such purpose of communicating with the marked, preparalion and
presentation of the Annual Financial Report and Financial Statements as wel as through publications an
the Company's website (hitps:'mz.com.mt). The latter contains information on the Company and its
business as well as a dadicated “Investors” section,

The Chairman of the Board shall ensure that all Directors {including Mr, Kevin Rapinett as Chairman of the
Audit Committee) shall be present at the annual general meeting ("AGM") to answer any questions which
may be posed thereal
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MAZ ple. (Formerly MEZ (Marksting) Limdtsd)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Dacember 2021

Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “Company”) with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - continued

A. GCompliance with the Gorporate Govermance Code - continued

= i}
The Directors acknowledge thatl, irespective of who appointed them to the Board, their primary
responsibiity is always to act in the best interest of the Company and ite stakeholders and that they ars
never o allow thelr personal interests to take precedence over thosa of the Company and its stakehaolders.
The M&As of the Company require any conflicled Director o declare such a conflict and subsequently:
prohibit sald Director from being counted in the quorum for the mesting at which such matiar is to ba
discussad or partticipating in the digcussion concerning & matter in respect of wirich ha has declared a direct
or indirect interest; and requiring the Director to withdraw from or, if applicable, not attend the Board meseting
at which such matter & discussed, Furthermone, such a conflicted Director = prohibied from voling on any
matter in which he has an interest. Any conflict of interest is to be accurately recorded in the Board minutes.
# Director having a continuing material interest that conflicts with the interests of the Company should take
affactve steps to aliminate the grounds of conflick.

The Directors are aware of their obligations when dealing in securities of the Company, The following
Direclors have declared their beneficial interests in the capitsl of the Company as al 31 December 2021:
M Paul Camillen; Mr Matthew Camilleri; Ms Greta Camiller Avallone; Mr Thomas Agius Vadala’; Mrs Erika
Pace Bonello and Dr Emma Pulicing, Mo other Dirgclor had any other banefil or non-beneficial inferest in
the Company in the yaar under rewiaw,

Principle 12 - C r ial

The Board ensures that the Company adheres o accepted principles of corporate social responsibility i all
practicas of the Company. The Board believes that adherence to such principle benefils not only the
Compary's siakeholders {including its shareholders, employess and customers) but society at large, The
Comparny conlinuously works on adopling and using enwvironmentally friendly fechaclogies in tha varous
aspeds and processes of is business, works ethically, considering human righis as well as the social,
aconoms and environmental impact of the business of the Company. The Company is currently formalising
fts CER goalz and an action plan for the attainment therecf,

B. Non-Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

Principle 7 — Evaluation of the Board's Perfformance:
Tha Board dees not consider it necessary 1o appeint @ committes to carry cut 8 peformance evaluation of

its robe, as the Board's pedformance is evaluated on an ongoing basis by, and is subject to the constant
soruting of the Board Eself (two of which are independeni non-executive Directors), the Company's
sharsholders, the market and all of the rules and regulations which the Company is subject o, as a
company, with its securlties listed ocn a regulated market.

Principle 8 - Committees
The Board considers that the size and operations of the Company do not wamrant fhe selling up of

remuneration and nomination commitiees. The Beard believes that the size of the Company and the Board
itsell does nol warrant the setting up of a separate commiites o establish the remungration packages of
individual directors. The Company relies on the constant scruliny of the Board itzelf, the Shareholders, the
markel and he nules by which the Company is regulaled as a lisled company.

The Board iz in the process of formulating and formalising a remuneration paolicy for Direclors and senior
execulives which, in lerms of Capial Markets Rule 12.264, shall be presented fo the shareholders for a
voie at the ferthcoming AGM. The "Remuneration Statement” required in terms of Code Provision 8.4.1
shall be subsequeantly prapared for the financial year ended 31 Dacember 2022.
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M&Z p.lc. (Formedy MEZ [Marketing) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statemants - 31 Dacember 2021

Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. ({the “Company") with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - continued

He - continoed

Principle 8 - Committeas - continued
The Cempany does not balleve it is necessary to establish a nomination committes as appoiniments to the

Board are determined by the shareholders of the Company in 2ccordance with nominalion and appainiment
process sel out in the M&A. The Company considers that the members of the Board possess the level of
skill, knowledge and experence axpectad in terms of the Corporate Governance Code. Tha Board shall
retain these matters under review over the coming vears.

Principle 9 - Relations with Shareholders and with the Market — Code Provisions 9.3 and 8.4

Code Provision 9.3 — The M&As do not provide for a mechanism which would trigger arbitration proceedings
in the event of non-resolution of conflicts between minority sharehelders and controlling shareholders.,
Should any such conflict anse this will be handled by the Board in its meetings with the assistance of the
Company Secrelary to laize with the relevant shareholder(s).

Code Provision 94 - The Company does nolt have in place a formal procedura by which a minorily
shareholder can present an Issue fo the Board. The Company however shall endeavour 1o have In placa
an open line of communication beteesn the minority shareholders and the Compary.

C. Internal Caontrols

Comparn I

The Board reviews and |s ulimately responsible for the Company's system of inlemal controls and for
reviewing Its eflectiveness, Such a system i3 designed to manage rather than aeliminale risk lo achieve
business objectives, and can provide only reasonable, and not sbsolute, assurance against normal
business risks of 1035, The company opereles through the board of directors and the Audid committee,
supported by the Executive team, The company has clear reporting lines and delegation of powers.

C Argnm

The company |5 commilted to the highasi slandards of business conduct and seeks o mamian hese
standards across all s operations. Policies and procadures are in place for reporting and dealing wilh
improper activitles. The company has an appropriate organizational structure which enables i 1o plan,
execulte, confrol and monllor business oparations in order to reach the company’s objeclives

Risk identification
The Board of Directors, with the assistance of the Executive leam, is responsible for the identification amd

asgessment of key risks applicabla to the business. The risks are assessed on an ongoing basis, and may
be associated with a varety of internal and extermal sources.

Information and communication

The Board engages in regular strategic reviews on long-term financial projections, as well as other potential
business opportunities. The audit cormmitles meets on a regular basis, and reviews the effeclivenass of the
company's systems of internal financial controls. The committese recaives report from management and he
mxlernal audilors. Regular budgets are prepared and performance against thesa plans is actively monitored
and reported 1o the Board,

D. Genegral Meatings

Az gat gut in Article 74 of the MEAs, all shersholdars of the Company included in the Regizier of Mambers
of the Company on the Record Date relative to the AGM are entitfed 1o recelve notice of, participate in and
yole at the general mesting, whether in parson or by proxy. Each shareholder is entilled to appeint a person
o act as their prosy holder to attend and vole at an AGM.
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MEZ plc. (Formerly MEZ (Markating) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.l.c. (the “Company™) with the
Code of principles for Good Corporate Governance - confinued

D. General Meetings - conlinued

Woling at the AGM may leke place either by a show of hands or by a poll, where such iz demanded. Subject
fo any rights or restricions altaching to any class or classed of Shares, on a show of hands each
sharehoider iz entitled to one wole and in a poll each shareholder is entitled to one vole per share (carrying
vating rights) held, Furthermore, each shareholder has the right to ask questions parlinent and related to
agenda items and has the right to have such questions answared by the Direclors or such person which
miay be delegated this task

Adaguate notice of the AGM, of at lzast twenty-one (21) days. s 1o be provided to all shareholders in terms
of &rticle 69 of the MB8A. The business of AGM includes the consideration of the Company's Annual Report
and financial statements, the directors’ and auditors” report for the previous financial year, the appointment
or alection of Directors {if necessary), the appointment or re-appointment of suditors and the fixing of the
remuneration of Directors and Auditors. Any other business dealt with at the AGM is deemed 1o ba “special
business”.

The Chairman arranges for all directors fo attend the AGM, where shareholders are prowded with a
presaniation on the performance and operations of the Company over the past financial year, In light of
prevailing markel and economic conditions, ar in light af any dismuptive events, and will also provide an
overview of the future oullook of the Company.

E. ©Other Disclosures im terms of the Capital Markets Rules

Maiters relating to the share cap#al of the Company are contained in the section enlitied “Additional
Information pursuant o Capital Markeds Rule 5.64" in the Directors’ Report.

Amandmeants to the M&A - In lerms of the Companies Act (Cap, 386 of the Laws of Malla) the Company
may by extraordinary resolulion at a ganeral meeting amand i1s M&A,

Powers of Direclors = the Powers of Direclors are set out in Articles 143 = 151 of the of the Company. For
ihe purpose of this section, "Equity Securities” means shares, another class of shares, or any olher
sacurities or mstruments (including but mot limited to warrants or options in relation to shares), thal can be
converied or exchanged into, or which carry the right to subscribe for, shares or ancither class of shares. In
lerms of article 5 of the Articles the Board is authorized to exercise the power of the Company to isswe and
allot Equity Securities up to the amount of the avtharsed but unisswed share capital of the Company fram
fima fo time (in respect of each clazs), and that the Board of Directors may offer, allot, grant, or olherwise
dispose of such Equity Securities to such persons on such ferms and in such manner as they think fit. This
authorisation iz valid untl the date of the Company's AGM to be held in 2022 unless previously renewed,
varled or revoked by the Company in general meeting. Accordingly, in terms of article B8 of the Companies
Act, and arficle 4 of the Articles, the Board Is authorised to withdraw ar resfrict all pre-emption rights of the
Shareholders and will remain so authorized for a5 lomg as the Board remaing s0 authonsed o issus Equity
Securnities.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Direcfors on 27 April 2022 by: |

|

¢ W
Charles J. Farrugla

Chairman . / |

Paul S, Camillen
Director
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of ME&Z p.l.2. (formerly M&Z (Marketing) Limnited)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Clur opintor

In our opinion;

»  The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of MEZ p.l.c. (the Company)
as at 31 December 2021, and of the company’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards 'TFRSs") as adopted by the EU;
and

*  The financial statements have been prepared in accordanee with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Oir opinion 5 consistent with our additional report to the Audit Commiltes.

What we have audited
ME&Z p.Les financial statements, set out on pages 27 to 61, comprise;

# the statemnent of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

# the statement of comprehensive income for the vear then ended;
# the staterment of changes in equity for the year then ended;

» the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

» the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further deseribed in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audir
af the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinien.
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Independent auditor’s report - coninued
To the Shareholders of M&R p.l.c. (formerly M&Z (Marketing) Limited)

Independence

We are independent of the company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants {including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the Accountancy
Profession {Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issned in terms of the Accountancy Profession
Act (Cap, 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our ather
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
company are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and that we have not provided
non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 184 of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281).

The non-audit services that we have provided to the company, in the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021, are disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements,

Our audit approach

Overview
#  [werall materiality: £126,000, which represents 5% of profit before tax.
Mterinlity

Auddit

scope
+  Waluation and existence of inventory

Key audit
i ters

Ax part of designing our andil, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the financial statements. In particalar, we consideved where the ditectors made subjective udgements:
for example, in respect of significant acconnting estimates that involved making assumptions and
eonsidering future svente that ars inherently uncertain. As in all of our andits, we also sddressad the risk of
management override of internal controls, including amaong other matters consideration of whether thers
wae evidence of bias that vepresented a visk of material misstatement doe to feand.

We tailored the seope of owr audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide &n opinion on

the financial statements as a whale, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the company operates.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
Tothe Shareholders of M&E pl.c (formerty M&E (Marketing) Limited}

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An awdit is designed o obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements
may arise due to fravd or error, They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements,

Based on our professicnal judgement, we determined certain goantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole a5 set out in the table below, These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determing the scope of our sudit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and
in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Owerall materialiby £116,000
How woe determined i 5% of profit before tax

Hotionale for the materiolity  We applied thiz benchmark because, in our view, profit before tax

benchmark applied is the metric against which the performance of the com pany is most
commaonly measured. We chose 5% which is within the range of
guantitative materiality thresholds that we consider acceptable.

We agread with the Audit Committes that we would report to them misstatements identified during ounr
audit above £13,600 a5 well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons,
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Independent auditor’s report - contined
To the Shareholders of ME&EZ p.le (formerly M&Z (Marketing) Limited)

Eey audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period, These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key andit mattor

How our audit addressed the Key sl matter

Virluation and existerce af inventory

Refer to notes 1.10 and 8

Inventory for the Company as at 31 December
2021 amounted to €3.5million and represented
33% of total current assets. This inventory
mainly consists of stocks held in the Company's
warehouses.

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The valuation of inventory at
cost is based on the first-in, first-out cost per
unit of inventory (the FIFO-principle).

Due to the natiure of the Company's operations,
the number of transactions recorded through
the invenbory cycle during the year is wvery
significant and dependant on the reliability of
the Company’s operating systems.

We fooused on thiz area because of the
materiality of these balances and the related
tmpact on warking eapital as well as on the cost
of items sold.

We tested the existence of inventory by attending the
vear-end count of inventory held in the Company's
warehouses and performing test counts on a sample
basis, We compared the quantities connted by us with
the results of the counts by the eotiies. We also
checked thar any variances were followed up by
management and reflected in the accounting reconds.

Our tests of detail on the valuation of imventory
included the verification of inventory records against
the respective supporting documentation on a sample
basis bo ensure that inventory is valued ab the lower of
cost and met realisable value, Furthermore, we also
assessed inventory with nearing expiry dates and slow
maving items.

Our audit procedures to assess inventory cut-off
consisted of performing substantive procedures to
ensure that the transfer of rights and obligations aver
inventory had been correctly reflecked in the
accounting records of the Company.

Based on the procedures performed, we conclude that
inventories as at vear end are reasonably stated i the
financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report - continned
To the Shareholders of MEZ pl.c. (formerly M&Z (Marketing) Limited)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the General
information, the Directors’ report and the Statement by the Directors on compliance by M&Z p.Le. (the
“Compeny ”) with the Code of principles for Good Corpornte Governanee (but does not include the financial
statements and our anditor's report thereon).

Owr opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal and
requiatory requirements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 15 to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 15 materially incongistent with
the financial stetements or our knowledge obteined in the audit, or otherwise appears to be matecially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 2 material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the financial
statements

The divectors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFR8s as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
86, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to freud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to
rontinge a8 a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
coneern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have na realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonalle assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
tncludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an andit
conducted in aceordance with [5As will abways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatenrents
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements,
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
Ta the Shareholders of M&Z p.l.c. (formerly M&Z (Marketing) Limited)

As part of an audit in accordance with 18As, we exercize professional judgement and maintain professional
seepticism thronghout the audit. We also:

»  Tdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether doe to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 8 material
misstatement resulting from fraod is higher than for ene resulting from error, as fraod may invalve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

& Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

»  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies wsed and the ressonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the sadit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
eonditions that may cast gignificant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going coneern, If
we conelude that & material uneertainty exists, we are required to deaw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures arve inadequate, to modify
onr opinion. Our conclisions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report, However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement iz not a
guarantee as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to
evaluate all of the potential implications that COVID-19 will have on the Company’s trade, customers
and suppliers, and the disruption to their business and the overall economy.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during owr audit,

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
gthical requirements regarding independence; and to communicate with them ail relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determing those matters that
were of most significance in the andit of the financial statements of the curvent period and ave therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in onr auditor's report unless law or regulation preciudes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of M&Z p.l.c. (formerly M&Z (Merketing) Limited)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Arnniel Report and Financial Statements 2021 containg other areas required by legislation or
regulation on which we are required to report. The Directors are regponsible for these other areas,

The tahle below sets oul these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities and
reporting, in addition toour responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information section of our
repart, Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form of assuranee,

Arca of the Annual Reporet
il Favererrecgond Silie Permeerel s
2oz and the related
Diirectors” responsihilities

Directors’ report

[On pages 2 b q)

The Maltese Companies Act
{Cap. 386) requires the
directors [0 prepare a
Directors’ repart, which
includes the contents required
by Article 177 of the Act and
the Sixth S¢hedule to the Act,

Dur responsibilities

We are required to consider whether
the information given in the
Directors' report for the finaneial
vear forwhich the fimoncial
statementy are prepared is consiatent
with the financial statements,

We are also required to express an
opinion as to whether the Directors'
report has been prepared in
accordance with the applicable legal
requirements.

In addition, we are required to state
whether, in the light of the
knowledge and understanding of the
Company and its envirgnment
obtained in the course of our audit,
we have identified any material
misstatements in the Directors'
report, and if 5o to give an indication
of the nature of any such
misstatements.

Chur repariing

In our opinion:

# the information given in the
Directovs’ repart for the
financial vear for which the
fingncial statements are

prepared is consistent with
the financial staterments; and

s the Directors’ report has
been prepared in accordance
with the Maltese Companies
Act [Cap. 386).

We have nothing te report (o vou
in respect of the other
responsibilities, as explicitly
stated within the Other
friforreation sectiom.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of M&E p.L.c. (formerly M&E (Marketing) Limited)

Arven of the Annuoal Report Dur responsibilibies Dur reporting
crnrdl Finiorceal Saterienis
goz2i gmd  the related

Directors’ respangililities

Other matters on which we are We have nothing to repart to
required to report by exception  you in respect of these
We also have responsibilities under responsibilities.

the Maftese Companies Act {Cap.

386 to report to vou [F, noour

opinion:

« adequate accounting records
have not been kepl, or returns
adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not
vizited by us.

o he financial statements are ot
in agreement with the accounting

records and returns.

= we have not received all the
information and explanations
which, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, we require
for-our andit.

T}Hiér rm:rum"— use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and enly for the Company's shareholders as a
by inn aecordance with Aaticle 170 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386] and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose of to any other
person o whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly ageeed by our

prior written consent.



pwcC

Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of M&E p.l.e. (formerly M&S (Marketing) Limited}

Aﬁm intment

We were first appointed as suditors of the Company for the period ended 31 December 2006. Our
appointment has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of
uninterrupted engagement appointment of 16 vears, The Company became [isted on a regulated market on
11 March 2022,

FricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street

#one 5, Central Business District
Corm




MEZ p.le. (Formardy MEZ (Markating) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Decombar 2021

Statement of financial position

As al 31 December

2021 2020
Motas € €
ASSETS
Mon-currant asaets
Intangible asaata 4 156,064 166,054
Propery, plant and equipment 5 1,356,625 1,490,027
Right-of-use assats & 1,907,991 2153313
Deferred fax aseets 13 250,724 210,876
Equity inatrumenis af fair vakie through
other comprehensive income 7 50 B0
Total non-current assets 3,670,444 4010418
Current assets.
Irventories i 3,546,694 2,488,500
Trade and cther raceivablas B 6,790,597 5,104,320
Cash and cash equivalants 10 452,121 1,073,183
Taotal current assals 10,789,412 BETE.012
Total assets 14,459 856 12,6854




ME&Z p.lc. (Farmedy MEZ [Marketing) Limited)
Annual Repert and Financial Statements - 31 Decamber 2021

Statement of financial position - continued

As at 31 Decembear

2021

2020

Mates ] L
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Crdinary share capital 11 5.500,000 G401 5657
Preference share capital 11 1,500,000 1,500,000
Advances for shares to be issusd 26 = 4142303
Oiher resere 12 = 15,082.7497)
Retained eamings 1,214211 1,311,821
Total equity 8,214,211 8,72, 763
LIABILITIES
Mon-current liabilities
Lease Habililies 14 1,801,829 2028, 782
Tatal nan-current liabilities 1,801,829 2022 7o
Current liabilities
Borrowings 15 2,051 653 -
Trade and ciher payables 16 1,906,144 1 BG2 B3Z
Current tax lizbilities 266,086 1R a7y
Lease iabifities 14 220,933 208,076
Total current liahikties 4,443 816 2,300 8856
Tatal liabilities 6,245,645 4,413,647
Total equity and liabilities 14,450,856 12 68641

The notes on pages 32 to 61 are an inlegral parl of these Mnancial stalemeanis.

——

The financial slalemants on pages 27 to 61 were authorised for issue by board on 27 April 2022 and
wera signed on its behalf by: /.l'
; —

Paul 3. Camilleri
Director




ME&Z p.l.c. (Formerly MEZ (Marketing) Limited)

Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Decamber 2021

Statement of comprehensive income

Notas

Fevanua 17
Cost of salas 18
Gross profit
Adminstrative expanses 18
CHher operating mcome 20
Operating profit
Firance incoma
Finamnca costs 21
Profit before tax
Tax expense 22
Profit for the year - total comprehensive income
Earnings per share for the year attributable to

shareheolders 25

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020
€ €

22.750,402 21,630,742
(17,440,785) (15.056,034)

5309707 4,673,808
(2,518,677) (2.295,194)

23212 T.267
2814302 2 385876
- 266

(99,330) {109,481)

2714972 2,276,651
{941,498) (16,380

1773474 1,460,261

.18 025

The notes on pages 32 1o 61 are an Integral parl of thesa financial statemeants.
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MEZ pLle. [Formerdy M&Z (Markeling) Limited)
Annual Report and Finandal Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement of changes in equity
Ordinary  Preference  Advances for
Share shara shares fo Other Retained
Capital capital be issued rEsenvas  eamings Totel
MNotas i £ £ £ £ L3
Balance at 1 Jamuary 2020 1,250,000 - - 465418 1051540 2770550
Impact on recmanisation 26 - - 4,142,303 |5,552,218) - {1,410,013)
Profit for the year - total
comprehensive incoms - - - - 1460281 1460281
Transactions with ovness:
Issue of share capdal 11 5,161,567 1,500,000 - - = B.851557
Dividands 24 . - . = [1,200,000) {1,200,000)
Tatal rarsactions with
CWNErS 5151,857 1,500,000 ‘ = [1,200,000) &451.557

Balance at 31 December
2020 6,401,557 1,500,000 4,142 203 (5,082,797} 1,311,821 5.272784

Balance at 1 January 2021 £.401 557 1,500,000 4142203 (5082797 1,311,821 B272 784

#rofit for the year - fotal
comprahensive incoms - - 1773474 1, TT3474

Transactions widh ownears:

lssue of shares 11 4,181.240 - [4,142,203) - (38,097)
Share capital reduction 11 (5,082.787) 5 - 5082797 = :
Dividends 24 2 3 3 - [1,832,047) (1,832,047

Todal fransachions with
CWners {801,557)

(4,142,203) 5082747 {1871,084) (1,832,047

Balance at 31 Docember
2021 5500000 1,500,000 - - 12142311 §.214,.214

The nofes on pages 32 10 61 are an integral pant of thess inancial stalemeants




MEZ ple. (Formery MEZ (Markating] Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statemeants - 31 Decembar 2021

Statement of cash flows

Year ended 31 December

Motes 20 2020
€ €
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 27 B45,741  2.471 553
Interest received - 268
Interest paid 21 (12.929) (15,049}
Income tax paid 11,035,139) (994, 728}
Met cash [used inligeneratad from operating activities (202,32F) 1482042
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 5 (334.883) (347 .218)
Proceads from disposal of propery, plant and eguipment 52017 -
Met cash used in invesiing activities 1342 BE6) (347,218}
Cash flows from financing activities
Principad and inlarest paymants of ease abilities 14 (295 475) 204 B35)
Dividands pald 24 (1,B32.047) (1,200,000)
Met cash uzed in financing activities (2,127.522) (1,484 835)
Met movement In cash and cash equivalents (2,672,715) (380,011)
Impact on recrganisation 265 = (1,160,075
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 1073183 2613273
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10 (1,699,632} 1,073,183

Tha notas on pages 32 1o 61 are an intagral part of thass financial statemeants,
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MAZ ple. (Farmeary ME&Z (Markating} Limited)
Annual Reporl and Financial Statemenis - 31 Decamber 2021

Notes to the financial statements

; £

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies apphed in the preparalion of these financlal statements are sel ouf
below. Thesa policies have bean consistently applied o all the vears presented, unless othaerwise
slated.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial slatemanis have been prepared in accordance with Infemailonal Financial Repording
Standards [IFRSs) as adopted by lhe EU and the requiraments of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
366

These financial stalemeants have been prepaced under the histoncal cost corvention as modified by
the fair valuation of eguity instrumenis al falr value through other comprehensive income,

The preparaticn of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. |1 also reguires directors to exercise their jucgement in the
process of applving the Company's accounting policies {see Mote 3 = Critical accounting estimates
and judgements),

Slamdands, nterpretalions and amendments to pebished standaras effeciive i 2027

In 2021, the Company adooted new standards, amendmenis and imterpretafions o existing standards
that are mandaiory for the Company's accounting period beginning on 1 January 2021, The adoption
af thess revizions fo fhe requirements of IFESs as adopted by the EU did nol resull in substandial
changes fo the Company's accounting polickes impacting the Company's financial perfarmance and
pasition,

Slandards, inferpretations and amendments o published sfandards thal are not yel effactive

Cartain new standards, amendments and intarpratations to existing standards have baen published
by the date of authorisation for issue of thase financal stalements but are mandatory for the
Company's accounting parods beginning after 1 January 2021. Tha Company has nol early adopted
thase revisions lo the requirements of IFRSs as adoptad by the EU and the direciors are of the
opinian that there are no requirermants that will have a possible significant impact on the Company's
firancial statements in the period of initial appdication.

1.2 Foreign currency translation
{a) Furiclonal and prasenialion currancy

Tha Company’s financial results and financial posifion are measured in the funclional currency, i.e.
gura (“€"), which is the cumency of the pimary economic anviranment in which the company
operates. These financial statements are presented in euro (“€7), i.e. the presentalion cumency,
which is the currency in which the Company’s share capital is denominated.

(bl Transactons amd balances

Foreign currency fransactions are translated into the funclional currency using the exchange rates
prevailimg at the dates of the transaciions or vaelustion where items are re-measured, Foreign
exchange gainz and losses resulting from the setlement of such transaclions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and Eabilities denominated in foreign curmencies are
recognised in profit or loss within "adminisirafive expenses’

iz



MEZ plc. (Formerdy ME&Z (Marketing} Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.3 Business combinations

Business combinations between entities under common control, which do not fall within the scope of
IFRS 3, are accounted for using the predecessor method of accounting. Under the predecessor
method of accounting, assels and lakbilities are Incorporated atl the predecessor camying values,
which are the carrying amounis of assats and liabilities of the acquired entity from its financial
staternants.

Mo goodwill arises in predecessor accounting, and any diference bebwaen the consideration given
and the aggregate book value of the assats and kabilities {as of the date of the transaction) of the
acquired enlity, is included in equily as a separata resanve.

In order to provide more meaningful information, lhe acquired antity's resulls are incorporated inlo
the financial siatements of the Company as if both enlifies had always been combined, with the result
that the financial statemenis of the surviving company reflect both entities’ ull year's resulls aven
though the business combination may have occurned parf way through e yaar,

1.4 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwil

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration fransferrad over the fair value of the idemifiable
net aseets acquired, Goodwill iz tested annuslly for impeirment and carmead at cost lass adcumulated
imparmeant loszes (Nole 1.7) Impaiment losses an goodwill are not reversed.

Goodwil is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairmant testing, The allecation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating unils thal are expected (o banedit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating
segments. A cash-genersting unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there s an indication that the unit may be impaired by comparing the camying
amaunt of the unil, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. The recoverable
amount is the higher of fair valua less cosis to sell and valua in use.

The assels’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted Il appropriate, al each
reporing date. An-assel’s carrying amount i written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
its carrying amount is greater than its estimaled recoverable amount (Note 1.7)

(&) Cither

Othar intangible assets ame caried al cosl less accumulaied amortisation, Other intanglbée assels
are amorised using the straighi-ine method over ther estmated wselul ife of 3 years,

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost, Al property, planl and equépment is
subsequently stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment Iosses.  Histoncal cost
includes expenditure that is directly atlribuiable to the acquisition of the ilems. Borrowing cosls are
recognised in profil or loss as incurred.

Subsaquent costs are included in the assel’s carrying amount or recognisad as a sepanale assel, as
approgriate, onfy when it is probable that fulure economic benefits associaled with the item will fow
to tha Company and the cost of the item can be measured refiably. The carrying amount of the
replaced pari is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the financial pedcd in which they are incumad,
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MEZ plc. (Formardy MEZ [Marketing) Limed)
Annual Report and Financial Siatemants - 31 Dat:&mbar 202

Summary of significant accounting policies - conlinuad

1.5 Property, plant and equipment - continuad

Dapreciation ks caloulated uging the straight-line method to aSocate their cost to their residual values
avet thair estimated usaful lives, a8 follows:

b
IT softwan and equipment 25
Frearars and edquipment 20-25
Office furnilura 10
Fixiures and fittings 10
Motor vehicles 20

The asseis' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if approprate, al the and of
each reporting period,

An asset's camying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount If the asset's
carrying amount iz greater than its estimated recoverable amount (nofe 1.7).

Eairs and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds wilh carying amount and
are recognised in profit or loss.

1.6 Leases

Company is fhe lessse

Al inceplion of 8 confraci, the company assesses whather a contract is, or containg, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the rght o control the use of an identified
asset for a pariod of lime in exchanga for consideralion.

Al commencement date, the company recognises a nght-of-use asset and a lease liabifity, Assels
and liabHibies ariging from a bease are inifially measured on a present value basis, Lease lisbilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

« fivad paymenis (including in-substance fixed payments], less any |lease incenlives
receaivabla;

» wariable lease payments that are based on anindex or rate, inilially meazured using the index
or rate &g af the commencameani date;
amaunts expectad to be payable by the company ender residual guaranleas;
ther ewercise price of a purchasae option if the company & reasonably certain to exercise thal
option; and

#  payments of panaltias for tarminating tha lease, if the lease ferm reflects the company
axercising thal oplion.

Leaze payments to be made under reasonably cerain axtension oplions are also ncluded in the
maasuramant of the abifily.

The ease payments are discounted ueing the intarast rate implich in the lease, If that rate cannot be
readily determinad, which is the case for tha Company's lease, tha Incremeanial borrowing rale is
used, being the rate that the Company would have to pay (o barrow the funds necessary fo obtain an
asset aof similar value to the righi-of-use asseat in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and condiions.
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bEZ ple. (Formady MEZ (Markeling) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statemeanis - 31 Decamber 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies - canlinueed
1.6 Leages - conlinuad
To determina the incremental barrowing rale, the Company:

= whore possible, uses recent third-parly iinancing receivad by the individual lesses as a starfing
point, adjusted to reflact changes in financing conditions since third pary financing was
receivaed, and

* makes adjustments specific to the leasa, e.g. term, country, curency and securly,

Lease payments are allocated between pringipal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or logs over the lease pericd so0 a5 to produce a constant periodic rate of interast on the
remaining balance of tha liakility for each parod.

Fight-ci-use assels am measured al cosl comprisng the following:

s the amount of the inikal measuramant of lease liability;

- any lease paymanis made af or before the commencemant dafe lese any leass incenfives
recohead,
any initial direct costs; and
restoration coats.

Righl-cf-use assels are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If e Company = reasonably certain o edercise a purchasa option, the
right-of-use assel iz depraciated over Lhe underying asset's useful life.

FPaymenls associated with shorl-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
sssals are recognised on a streight-line basis as an expense in profit or loes. Shord-term leases are
leases with 3 lease term of 12 months or less.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that creata an
economic incantiva o exarcise an axtension option, or nol exercise a termination oplion. Extension
aoptions {or percds after termination options) are only included in the lease term If the lease &
reascnably certain (o be extendad {or nol lerminated).

For leases of properties, the following faclors are normally the most relevant:

- If thesre are significant penalties o terminate (or notl extend), the Company is typically reasonably
certain fo extend (or not terminate);

* If any leasehold improvements are axpectad to have a significant remaining value, the Company
is typically reasonably certain to extend {or nof terminate);

= Otherwise, the Company considers other factors mcluding historical lease durations and the
cosis and business disruption required to replace the leased asset,

The lease term iz reassessed if an option Iz actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Company
becomes abliged to exarcise (or nol axercise) . The assessment of reasonehla certainty & anly
revised if a significant even! or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which aflects this
assassment, and that is within the control of the lassee.
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Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Decamber 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies - confinged

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject o amorlksation and are lested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if evenis or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired, Other non-financial assats that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumsiances indicate that the carrying amount may nat
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amound exceads its recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less cosis to sell and value in use, For the purposes of assessing Impaiment, assets are
grauped at the lowest levels for which there are separataly ientifiable cash flows {cash-genarating
units}. Mon-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewsd for possible
reversal of the impainmenit at the end of each reparfing penod.

1.8 Financizal assets
1.8.1 Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following maasuremant calagories,
thoze to be measured subsequently at fair value (sither through OCI ar through profit or loss), and
+ those o be measured at amorfised cost.

The classification depends an the Company’s business model for managing the financial assels and
the contrectual terms of the cash flows.

Faor assets measurad st fair value, gains and loszes will either ba recorded in profit or loss ar OCIL
For invasiments in equity instrumanis hal are not held-for-trading, this will depand on whether the
Company has made an imavocable election at thae time of initial recognitien to account for the equity
investment al fair vaiue through other comprehensive income (FWOCT),

The Company classifies ils derivative instrument for which it does not sapply hedge accounting &5 a
financial assat or hability at fair value through profit or loss

The Company reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing
thosa assaets changes.

1.4.2 Recognition and deracognition

Ragular way purchases and sales of financal assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
tha Company commits to purchase or sell the assel Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Comparny has transferred subsiantially all the risks and rewards of ownership,

1.8.3 Measurament

At indial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair valug through profit or loss {FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
aliributable fo the acquisition of the Minanclal asset. Transaction costs of financial assels caried at
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assels wilh embedded darivalives are considered in their entirety when determining
whedher their cash flows are salely payment of principal and interest.
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M&Z p.l.c. (Formerly M&Z {Marksting) Limited)
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 Dacember 2021

Summary of significant accounting pelicies - conlinuad

1.E Financlal assets - confinued
1.8.3 Measurement - continued
Dabl instruments

Subszequent measuremeant of debt instruments depends on the Company's busines: model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Company classifies its debt
instruments at amorised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash fiows whara
those cash fiows represent soledy payments of principal and interest are measured at amartised cost.
Interast income from thase financial assets is included in finance income wsing the effective interest
rate mathod. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
prasanied in othar gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
ara presented as separale line itam n the statement of profit or loss.

Equaty instrumenis

The Company subsequently measures afl eguily invesiments at fair valus. Whera the Company's
management has electad to present fair value gaine and loases on equity mvastments in OO, there
i8 no subsequeni reclassification of fair value gains and bosses to profit or loss following the
darecognition of the inveasiment Dividends from such investments are recognised in profil or loss a5
othar incoma when the Comipany's right to receive payments is estabfishad,

Changes in the fair value of inancial assels at FVPL are recognised in olther gains/{lesses) in profit
or loss a5 applicable, Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity invesimesnis
maasurad al FVOC! are not reporied separataly from other changes n fair value

1.8.4 Impairment

The Company assezses on a farward looking basis the expected credit losses associaled with is
debt instruments carried at amorlised cost and FVOCI The impairment methodology appliad
depends on whether thera has been a significant increase in credii risk,

For trade and other receivables, the Company applies the simpiified approach permitied by IFRS §,
which raquires expacted lifetime losses 1o ba recognisad ram initial recognition of the receivables.

Expeclad credit loss model

The Company applies the IFRS ¥ simplified approach 1o measuring expected credit [osses which
uses a lifelime expected loss allowance for all frade receivables and the IFRS 9 ganaral approach to
mieasuting axpactad credil losses which uses a 12-month ECLS.

Whan detarminirg whelher the credii risk of a fmancial assel has ncreased sigoificantly skce initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable
information thait s relevant and available without undue cost or efforl. The Company assumes that
the credit risk on a financial assel has moreasad significantly I is more than 90 days past dus, and
it considers a financial asset io be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its cred® obligations
to the Company in full, withoul recourse by the Company to actions such a3 realising security (if any
iz held); or the financial agset ia more than 180 daya past due.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - conlineed
1.8 Financial assets - continuad
1.8.4 Impairment - continued

Lifetimae ECLs are ihe ECLs fhat result from all possible defaull evants over the expected life of a
financial iInstrument. 12-month EGLS ane ihe portion of ECLs that result from defaull events thal are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting dale (or a shorter pariod If the expected life of the
instrument is kess than 12 months), The makimum perlod conskdered when eslimaling ECLs is the
maximum contraciual perod over which the Company is exposed o credil risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls. ECLS are discounted al the effective interest rate of the financial aseel.
Al aach reporting dete, the Company assessas whether financial assets carriod al amortised cost
are cradil-impaired, A financial assel is "credit-impaired’ when one or more evenis that have a
defrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the finandal assat have cccurred, Evidence
that a financial assetis credit-impaired includes observable data such as significant financial difficully
of the borrower or issuer, or a breach of confradd such as a dafaull or belng more than 20 days past
dug

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assals,

1.9 Derivative financi@xl instruments

The Company uses derivative instrumeanis to manage foreign exchange risk exposures nelated 1o
GBF. These derivatives ara initially measured at fair valua on the date a dervative contract is entered
inta, and they are subsequently remeasured fo their fair value at the end of each reporting cate.
Derivatives are carried as financial asseals when the falr value is posithve and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative. The Company did not apply hedge accounting and as a result, thess
dervalives are classified as financial assats or kabilites at fair value through profit or loss, Changes
ir the fair valua of the denvatives are recognised in profit or loss.

1.10 Inventories

Invenicries are stated at the lower of cost and nel realisable value, Cosl B determined using the
firgt-in, Arst-out method, The cost of nventories comprisas the invoiced value of goods and, in
general, includes fransport and handling cosls, Nel realisable valve = the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable aslling expenses.

1.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables comprize amounts due from customers for merchandise scld or services
performed in the ordinary coursze of business. If collection is expectad In one year or less (ar in the
normal oparating cycle of the business if longer), they are clasaified as currant assats. |f not, they
are pressnted a8 non-currend assets

Trade and aother receivables are recognized inftially at fair velue and subsequently maasered at
amorfized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment, Le, expeclad credi
loss allowances. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
accounl, and the amount of the loss iz recognised in profit or loss. When a recaivable i uncallectible,
It is written off agains! the allmsance account for trade and other receivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounis previcusly written off are credited against profi or loss. Impairment of financial assels =
describad in Mote 1.8.4 abova.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - conlinued
1.12 Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carmied in the statement of financial positbon at face value. In the
staterment of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents Incluede cash in hand and depasits hield at call
with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts sre shown within borrowings in current Babilities in
the statemeant of financial pasition

1.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares zre classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable o the issue of new
ordinary shares are shown in eguity as a deducticn, net of tax, from the proceads,

The Company classified instruments issued as financial liabilifies or equity instruments in accordancs
with the subsiance of the contractual terms of the instruments. The Company's other equity
instruments are redeemable by holders through decisions of the board of directors, and bear and
entitlement io coupons at the sole discrefion of the board of direciors, Accordingly, they are presenied
within equity. Distribufions thereon are recognised in equity. Based on the Company's assessment
of the terms of the instruments, the coupon payments meal the definition of dividands. Therefars, the
redated tax impacts are recognised in profibor loss in accordance with 1AS 12, unless the transactions
or events thal ganerated those distributable profils were recognised oulside profif or loss.

1.14 Financial liabilities

The Company recognizes a inancial llability In its statement of financial position when | becomes a
party o the contracteal provigions of the instrument. Financial labiities are recognized infially at falr
value, including transaction costs, These liabilites are subsequently measured at amortized cost.
The Company derecognises a financial liab#lity from its statement of financial pesitiocn when the
obligation spacified in the contract or arrangement is discharged. iz cancelled or expires.

1.15 Trade and other payables

Trada payatbles are obligations io pay for aoods or sendces that have been acguired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers, Accounts payable are classified as current liabilties if payment is
due within cne year or less (or in the normal aperating cyele of the business if longer). if nat, they
are presanted as non-currant lakilities,

Payabias are recognised inifislly at fair value and subsequently measurad at amortised cost using
the efactiva interest method.

1.16 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assels and liabilities are offset and the net amount reporied in the statement of financial
positicn whean there is a legally enforceabie right o set off the recognised amounts and there is an
infentian to satfle on a net basis, or realise the asset and satfle the lisbility simultansously.

1.17 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and defered tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except fo the extent that it relates to lems recognisad directly in eguity. Inthis case, the fax is

also recognised directly in equity,
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Summary of significant accounting policies - confinued
147 Current and deferred tax - continued

Defarred tax is recognised, using the Hability methad, on temporarny differences arising between tha
Lax basas of assals and liabiities and thair cafrying amounts in the financial slalements. Howewer,
deferred tax llabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred
income tax is not accounted for if il arses from initial recognition of an assel or liabilly in & ransaction
olher than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affecta neither accounting nor
taxable profi or losa. Defarrad income tax is defermined wsing tax rates (and laws) thal have been

enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting peried and are expacied to apply whan
the ralated defarred income tax esset is realised or the déferad income tax liabilily is setthed,

Daferred {ax assats are recognised only to the exient that it s probable thal fulvre taxable profil will
be available against which the temporary differences can be wilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceabla right to offset currant
lax assels against current tax Habilies and when the deferred lax assels and liabilities relale to
inzome texes levied by the same taxation authorty on either the same taxabie anlity or differant
lacable anlilies whara thare is an ntention 1o sattle the balances on a net basis.

1.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods and sarvices in the ordinary course of the Company's activibes. Revenue is recognised upan
delivery of products or performance of services, and is stated net of sales fax, retums, rebates and
discounis.

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be relEbly measured, when il is
probable that future ecanamic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific critera have been met
for each of the company's activities as described below,

fal Sale of goods

Sales of goods ara recognised al a paint in time when the Company has delivered produects to tha
cusiomer and there is no unfulfillad obligation that could affect the customer’s acceplance of the

producis. Delivery does not oceur wntll the risks of obsolescence and loss have bean transferred to
the customer, and the customer has acocepied the products.

{8} nterest income

Interast income is recognised on 8 time-proportion basis using the effective intarast method.

o) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment = established.

1.19 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution 1o the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company's

firancial statements in e period In which the dividends are approved by the Company's
sharehokdears,
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1.20 Earnings per share

1.20.1 Basic eamings pershare
Baslc eamings per share is calculated by dividing profit allributable 1o equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period

1.20.2 Dilsled eamings per share

Diluted eamings per share is calculated by adjusiing the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume exercise of all dilulive potestial ordinary shares.

1.21 Segment reporting

The Company deiermines and presenis operating segments based on the information that intemally
is provided to the board of directors, which is the Company's chief operating decision maker in
accordanca with the requirements of IFRES & 'Cperating Segments’,

An cperaling segment is a component of the Company thal engages in businass achivilies from which
it may eam revenuves and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate o
fransactions with any of the Company's other componanis, and for which diecrele financial
infarmation is available. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regulary by ihe board
of directors bo make decisions aboul resourcas ko be allocated 1o the segment and to assass s
parformance executing the function of the chief operating decision maker. The board of directors
considers the Company to be made up of cne operaling segment.

Financial risk management
21 Financial risk factors

The Company's activities potentially expoze it to a varely of financal risks: market risk [Including
foreign exchange rick, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity nsk, Tha
company's overall fisk management focuses on the unpredictabiliky of financial markets end seeks
to minimise pofential adverse effects on the Compamy’s financial performance.

The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific
areas, such as forsign exchange nsk, irterest rate risk, credit sk, and irvesiment of excess liguidity.

Buring 2021 and 2020, the Company entered into dervative nstruments to hedge ils forsign
exchange risk exposures related to GBP. Details on the Company's hedging activities and derivatives
arg provided in this note.

{al  Hedghg achviies and derivaltives

During the linancial year ended 31 Decamber 2021, GBP purchases amounted o approsdmataly 155%
(2020; 42%) of the total purchases of the Company. As a resull, any fluciuations in the GBF rate may
have a significant effect an the Company’s resulls. In order 1o manage the exchange rala risk
subsequent io 2022 management was kad to the dacision to enter info forward contracts with respect
to tha forelgn exchange rate for GBP which will direclly impact the Company’s fulure purchase cost,
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Financial risk management - continuad
2.7 Financial risk factors - conlinuad
fal  Hedging activities and derfvatives - continued

These confracts which commence in quarder 1 and last unlil the last quarter of 2022 are expected o
reduce the volatiity affribulable 1o exchange rates for GBP. Hedging the exchange rate volafility of
forecast GBP rates is in accordance with the risk management sirategy outiined by the directors, The
Company's derivative inatruments are governed by confracts with the Company's bank. The fair value
of the dervative instruments are darived from exchange rates and readily abservable information and
falle into the Level 2 hisrarchy of IFRS 13 (inputs other than quoted prices inchrded in Level 1 that
are obsarvable for the assel or Hability, sither direcily such as prices or indirectly such as denved
from prices}

&5 at 31 December 2021, the Company entered info forward contracts which will be sellled on a date
in 2022 amounting 1o €4,081, 468 (2020: €5 538,812}, As al the reporling date, the Company made
a gain of approximately £40.847 on fair value on this confract. In accordanca with the Company's
accounting policy as described in Nole 1.9 to these financial statements, the fair velue gain on
darivativa financial instruments is recognised in profit or loss. The directors believe that the fair valua
of the dervative financial instruments is insignificant at the reporting date and additional dsclosures

en the Company's hedging activities and derivalives is not deamed necessary.
(b Marke! risk
fil Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange rsk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabiities which are denominated in currencies other than the euro,

kaonelary financial assels and liabdities denominated in GBP and USD amounied o

2024 2020
€ €
uso
Trade and aiher receivablas 90,569 124,168
Bank balances (115,793) 53.524
GBP
Trada and other recejvablas 97,613 26 652
Trade payables {14,403] (542 025)
Bank balances 435,429 720,845

With the exception of what has been disclosed above, manegement doss not normally consider foraign
exchange risk attributable to recognised labilties arising from purchase transactions to be significant
since balances are settlad wilhin very sharl periods in accordancs with the negotiated credit terms and
the Company managsas this risk arising from the GBP fluctuations by entering into forward contracts as
disclosed in note 2.7 (a) above.

Accordingly, a sensifivity analysis for foreign exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity

would have been affectad by changes in foreign exchange rates that ware reasonably possible al the
end of the reporting perod is not deemed necessary.
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2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(bl Market dzk

{5l Cash fow gnd fair valuve inferest rale mak

The Company is exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluciuations in the prevalling levels
of tha marke! interast rates on its financing position and cash flows. As at the repariing date, the
Company did not have fixed rate intarast-bearing assaets, Accordingly, ils revenue and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes Iin market interest rates.

Ag at the statement of financial pesition date, the Company’s exposure 10 changes in interest rates
on bank accounts held with inencial institutions and on intarast bearing liabilities was limited as the
Company BB predominanily subject o lxed Interest rales,

Based on the above, the board considers the potential impact en profit or loss of a defined interesl
rate shift that is reasonably possible at the reporting date o be mmalersal,

{c) Credi sk
Credit sk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credil exposures fo oculstanding receivables. The credit quality of customers i3 assessed,
taking into account financial position, past expenence and othar factors, The ulllizalion of credit lmits
iz regularly monitored.

The maximum exposure to credit sk at the reporting dale was:

2021 2020

€ £

Trade and other receivables (note 9) 6,091,369 4,732 578
Cash and cash eguivalents (nole 10) 452,121 1.073,183

6,543 482 5,808,761

Trade and other receivablas

The Company assesses the credil quakly of its trade customers, the majority of which are unrated,
taking into account financial position, past experience and ofher factors. The Company's exposura
to credit rizk is influenced mainky by the individual characteristics of each cusiomer, It has policies in
place to ensure that sales of services are affecied to customers with an appropriate cradit histony.

Standard credit terms are m place for individual clients, howevar, wherever possible, new cusiomers
are analysed Iindnddually Tor creditbworthingss before the Company’s standard payment and service
gelivery terms and conditions ane offered. The creditwornhiness analysis for new customers includes
a review through external craditworthiness dalabases when available, The Company monitors the
performance of its trade and other receivables on a regular basis to identfy incummad collechon lossas,
which are inherent in the Company’s deblors, taking into aceount historical exparience in collection
of Bccounts receivable,

The Company manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that past
due amounts receivable from customers are within coentrolied paramelers,
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Financial risk management - continued
2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(¢} Gredit risk - continwed

Irnpainrenl of frade and olfher receivabies

The Company applies the IFRS & simplified approach fo measuring expectad cradit losses which
ugas a lifetime expacted loas allowance for ail trade recaivables and cantract assals.

To measura the expected credit loszes, trade receivables have bean grouped based on shared cradit
risk charactenstics and the days pasl dua

The axpacted Inss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of time befare the
reparfing date and the comesponding historical credit losses expedenced within this period. The
hstorical loss rates ane ad|usted to reflect current and forward-tooking informalion on macrogconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers o sellle the recelvables. The Company adjusted the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. On that basig, the loss allowance
was determinad to as follows:

Curment

and g to 31 1o 60 61 1o 90
30 days  days past days past + 81 days

past dus due due past dus Total
L £ € E €
As at 31 December 2021
Expected loss rate (weighted
average) 3% 15% 42% 100%a
Gross carmying amount 5,199,796 161,249 67,837 899,075 5,527 957
Loss allowance - provision [153,355) (24 705) {28,640) (99,075) [305,T55)
As at 31 December 2020
Expected loss rate (weghlad
average) 3% 9% 38% 100%,
Eross carmying amount 4,511,304 166,358 43518 GrT 267 4818448
Loss allowance — provision {139 508) (14,857} {15,524) (a7 2657 (267, 156)

The closing loss allowances for frade receivables and contract assets as al 31 December reconciie
to the cpaning loss allowancas as follows:

2021 2020
€ €
Trade receivables and contract assels
Balance at 1 January 267,156 223198
Increase in loss allowance recognisad
In prafit or koss during the year 38,619 43,858
Balance at 37 Decembar J05,TTS 26T 1568

Trada recaivables ara written off whean there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, Indicalors that
thare is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor 1o
engage in a repayment plan with the Company.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.1 Financial risk factors - confinued
o] Credi dsk - continued

Impairment osses on frade receivables are presented as nel impairment losses on financial and
contract assels within administrative expenses. Subzaguent recovanes of amounts previously wrillen
off ara crediled against the same ne itam.

Cash and cash equivalent

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered neghigible since the counterparties are
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. While cash and cash equivalents ara also
subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 3, the [dentified iImpalrment loss was insignificant.

(cl} Ligedality risk

The Company = exposed to liquidity risk inm relation to meeting future obligations sasociated with it
financial liabiities, which comprise leasa labilitiss, berrowings and frade and other pavables (Noles
14, 15 and 16). Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and
commilted cradil lines to ensure tha availability of an adequate amcuni of funding o meet the
Ciompany's obhiigalions.

Management monitars iquidity fisk by reviewing expected cash flows, and ensures that no additional
financing facilities are axpacted o be reguired over the coming year.

The following table analyses the Company's financial lfabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period al tha statement of financial position to the contractual malurity date.

The amounts disciosed in the table are the contraciual undiscounted cash flows. Batances due within
twetve months equal their camrying balances, as the impact of discounting is nol significant.

Carrying | Contreciual Within Two to DOwar
amaount cash flows ona year  five years  five years
£ £ £ £ £

At 31 December 2021
Lease liahilities 2,022,762 2,365,869 298,950 1288485 Trra24
Borrowings 2,051,653 2,051,653 2,051,653 - -
Trade and olher payables 1,806,144 1,906,144 1,906, 144 = =
5,590,422 6,323,666 4,256, T4T 1,289 485 TTT.424
Camying | Contraciual Within Two to Chver
amaount cash flows ane wyear five y=ars  five years
€ E E € E

At 31 December 2020
Lease liabilities 2,231,838 2,661,344 295475 1282582 1103277
Trade and other payables 1,662 832 1.862,632 1.862 532 = -
4,094,670 4,524,176 2,158,307 1,.282582 1,703,277
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Capital risk management

The Company’s ohjectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability o continue
as @ going concern In order o provide retuns for shareholders and benefits for other slakehalders,
and o mainiain an optimal capital structere fo reduce the cost of capital. In order 1o maintain or
adjust the capifal etruciure, tha Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount of dividends

paid to sharehaldars,

The Company monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of aggregated net debt 1o total
capilal. Mel debl i calculated as tofal bormowings induding lease liabiliies less cash and cash
equivalenis. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the statement of inancial position, plus
nat dabt. The aggregated figures in rezpect of the Company's equity and borowings are reflected
below:

2021 2020

€ €

Taotz borrowings and kease Rabilities (notes 15 and 14) 4,074,415 2,231,838
Less: Cash at bank and i hand (note 10) (482121) (1,073183)
Mat barrowings and lease liabilities 3,022,294 1,158,855
Tolal equity 8,214,211 8272784
Total capital 11,836,505  9.431.438
Gearing 30.6% 12.3%

The Company manages the relationship bebwean equity injeclions and borrowings, being the
constituent elements of capital as reflecied above from period o period, with a view o maraging the
cost of capital. The leveal of capifal of the Company, as reflected in the staternent of financial position,
is maintained by reference to ils respective financial obligations and commitments arising from
operational requiremenis, In view of the nature of the Company's activities and the extent of
borrowings or dedt, the capital level at the end of the reporfing period is deemed sdequate by
managemant.

2.3 Fair values of financial instruments

The falr valuz of financial Instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
vakuation technigues, The Company uses as a variely of methods and makes assumplions that are
based on market condiffons existing at the end of each reporing pericd.

Financial instruments are carried at fair value, by valuation medhod, The different levels have baen
defined as follows:

s Cuated prices {unadjusted) in active markels for identical azsals or liabiites (evel 1)

s Inputz othier than quoted prices inclsded within lavel 1 that are obeenvable for the asset or
liabildy, either dirsctly (thal is, as prices) or indirecty (that is, derved from prices) (eved 23,

s Inputz for the asssi or Gability that are not based on obsarvable markel data (thal is,
unobsardable inpuis) (levad 3}

The Company's financial assel clagsified as FVYOC! iz included in evel 3.
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Financial risk managemeant - continued
2.3 Fair values of financial instruments - coanlinuead

Cther technigues, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair valua for the
remaining financial instrumants.

Al 31 December 20271 and 2020 the carrying emounts of cash at bank, trade recaivables (net of
provision), payables, accrued expenses and borrowings reflected in the financial stalements ane
reasonable estimaies of fair values in view of the natura of these instruments or the relatively shor
paricd of time betwean the crganization of the instruments and the expectad realisation.

Az gt the end of the reporting period, the fair valees of financial sssets and liabilities, approximats
the camying amounts shown in the siatemeni of financial position.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimaies and judgemenis are continually evaluaied and based on historical experience and ather
factors including espectations of fulure events thal are befieved fo be reascnable under the
circumsiances.

In tha opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the coursae of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would
warrant thelr descriplion as oritical in terms of the reguirameants of AS 1.

Intangible assets
Goodwill Cthars Total
E L L
At 1 January 2020
Cost 156,054 T0G, 000 BB, D54
Accumulated amortisation - (700,000) (¥00,000)
Met book amount 156,054 . 156,054

Year ended 31 December 2020
Cipaning and closing net book amount 156,054 - 156,054

At 31 December 2020
Cost 156,054 00,000 B5E, 054

Accumulated amaortisation (700, 00070 (700,000

Met bock amount 156,054 - 156,054
Year ended 31 December 2021
Opening and closing nel book armouwnt 156,054 - 156,064

At 31 December 2021
Cost 156,054 700,000 BES, D54
Accumulaied amortisation - (700,000) (FO0,000)

Met book amount 156,054 - 156,054
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Intangible assets - cantinued

Irmpairment lesls for goodwill

The goodwil relates o e Company's acquisition of businesses from third perties. As 8 result of
these acquisilions, the Company increased its presence in the market The recoverable amount |s
reassessed annually based on eslimales of expected fulure cash fows as kenfified from a business
plan approved by management for the next five years including a growth rate of 3.2%. A post tax
dizcount rate of 4% has been applied and reflects the specific riske relating to the market in which

ME&Z pl.c operates,

Cin the basis of the latest business plan and current market data available to tha Board, no impairment
chamge is required for the currant year.

Property, plant and equipment
IT softwars Fixiura Freazams
and and Diffice and Motor
aquapraent ﬂltrlgt farniure ﬁql.ni‘pme-ﬂl vehickes Tokad
£ £ E € E E
At 1 Janvary 2020
Cost 343788 2B 435 23T BEB 1.982.361 2020098 4610348
Accumulated depreciation (27T 232) (1.763) (24828} {1.4A77E871) {1.497.70B} (2.8B0,102)
Blet book @mouwn 65834 24672 212858 04,482 522,388 1,630,244
Year ended 31 December
2020
Openimg net book amount 85,824 24872 27858 304 452 327,388 1,630,244
Additars 120,258 9ZTSs 181 167 &851 4% B53 I4¥ 8
Disposals {18E,388) . . - - {168,388}
Deprecialion charge (546300 (24470 (3,189} (281,247) (113,BED) {4B7 435)
Dispeeciation released on
Disposal 188,388 - - - 188,388
Clzsing nat book amownt 121,453 9ATT 209840 GI0.B36 458,361 1,490,027
At 31 Decemb-er 2020
Cost 275 638 asmn 23T 8567 2,180,014 2,086,040 4 768,178
Aeeumudalad depreciation (154 183  (26.233) (28027} (1.450118) {1,611.56B) {3,270,149)
Mat bogk amount 121,453 9A4TT 209840 690,696 458,361 1,480,027
Year ended 31 Decembar
2021
Dpening nat book amouni 121,453 0477 209840 600, BDE 458, 361 1,480,037
Agdilinne 85375 5220 @ ao0 172,134 127,354 304 883
Dispresals - . . - (58,535} [68,535)
Cepraciation changs {70 555} [2.445) (24875} (274458) (128,067} (5400, 540)
Depreciaton released on
Disposal - - 28,7890 28,750
Cloalrg net book amaunt 136,233 12,252 194 665 588 872 423 903 1,185 625
At 31 December 2021
Cosl 1,01 400830 247 BET 1658283 52,834 2.568,741
Accumulated depréciation {224,778) (285TB) (53.002) (1,06772T) (238,831} (1,613116)
Mat bock amount 136,232 12,252 194 665 588,572 423,903 1,358,625
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Right-of-usa assats

The slalement of financial position reflecis the following assets relaling to leasas:

Property
lzases Total
£ L3
Year ended 31 Decamber 2020
Cpaning net book amount 2,358,635 2,388 635
Ciepreciation charge (245 322) (245,322}
Closing nat book amount 2153313 2153313
Year ended 31 December 2021
Cpening nel book amauni 2,153,313 2,153,313
Daprecialion charge (245 322) {245 322
Closing net book amount 1,907 981 1,007,901

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts retatirg to leases:

2021 2020

€ €

Depreciation charge of nighl-of-use asssls 245322 245 322
Interest expense (includad in finance cost) (MNate 21) 86401 o4 432
Expense relaling 1o short tarm [2asas (Mola 18) 39,399 2 528

arzz 342,682

The Company’s leasing aclivities

The Company leases two properties - an office space and warehouse, Rental contracts are Lypically
mede for ixed pevicds of up 10 12 years and B years, respeclively. Leass lerms are negoliated on an
Individual basis and contain a wide range of differenl terrs and conditions. Contracls may contain
both lease and non-Ease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the contract (o
the lease and nor-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, Tor leases
of real estate for which the Company |5 a lessees, | has eleclad nol 1o separale kase and non-lease
companents arnd instead accounts for these as a single lease componenl. The l[Ease agreememts do
mot Impose any covenants, Leased assels may not be used as securily for bormowing purposes,

Extenaion and terminafion opiions

Extension and termination cptlens are intluded in the property leases. These terms are used to
maximise operational flexbility in respect of managing confracts. The majority of extension and
termination opiions held are exercizable only by the Company and not by the respective lessor, In
respect of the majority of lease arrangements, the estension perinds have been included in
determining ease tarm for the respective arrangemeant.
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Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

2021 2020
E €

Year ended 31 December
Opening and closing cost and net book amount 50 50

Equity Instrurmenis at FVOC| relata (o an investmeant in Greanpak shares witich ara nol listed and the
direciors consider this investmant o be insignificant and additional disclosures and nol deamead
Necessary.

Inventories
2021 2020
€ L3
Finighed goods and goods for resala 3,046 694 2498 50

Imventory wite-downs during the year amounied to €181 652 (2020; 180,672},

Trade and other receivables

202 2020

€ €

Current
Trada receivables - gross 5,027,357 4,693 957
Less. loss allowance (305,773) [267,156)
Trada recaivables - net 5,222,182 4,426 801
Other receivables 299,536 124,491
Indirect taxation 71,715 118,802
Advance paymenis fo suppliers 441,845 284 648
Marketing contributions receivable 457,928 61,4584
Prapayments and contrac! assels 257 .27 87,103
Total trade and cther receivables 6,790,597 5,104,329

Ciher receivables include advances and |oans to employess amounting to€86,645 (2020: €67 483),
Ciher receivables alse include €180,000 paid during 2021 in relation to the acquisition of the
representation righis of varous brands and related assets which has been condluded after year end

(MWote 28},

The net carrying amount of the trade receivables is considered & reasonable approximation of fair
value. In determining the recoverability of trade receivebles the Company considers any change in
the cradit guality of each trads receivable from the date credit was initially granted up o the reporting
data

The Company’s exposure to credil and currency risks and mpairment fosses relating 1o rade and
athar receivables are disclosed in Mole 2.

& |
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10.  Cash and cash squivalents

1.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2021 2020

€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 452,121 1,073,183
Bank cverdraft (Note 15) (2,051,853) .

{1.51;9,5:32} 1 .5?3.133

Share capital
2021 2020
L) [
Authorised
45,000,000 ordinary shares of €1 2ach 45 000,000 45,000,000
5,000,000 3% cumulative radesmabis
preferance shares of €1 sach 5.000,000 5,000,000

50,000,000 50,000,000

Issued and fully paid up

5,500,000 (2020: 6,401,567) Ordinary shares of €1 each 5,500,000 6,40t 557
1,500,000 3% cumulative redasmabhs
preference shares of €1 gach 1,500,000 1,500,000

7.000,000 F.901557

Cruring 2021, the Company startad the process of resiruciuring its share capital in preparalion for the
listing of its ghares on the Malta Stock Exchange.

&5 par shareholder resclution dated 20 May 2021, the shareholders capifalized the ME&Z Group
Limied cutstanding amount (nobe 25) by isswng and allofting 4,142,203 fully paid-up ordinary shares
having & nominal value of one euro (€1) each in favour of M&Z Group Limited,

As par shareholder resolution dated B Movember 2021, the sharehclders reduced its share capital
fromn €12,043 761 to €6 960,964 throwugh sharme cancellation resulting in €5 460,963 in Ordinary share
capifal and €1,500,000 in Preference shares. The share capital reduction was camead o for the
purpnse of offsetling the losses incurred by the Company as evidenced by its negative reserves
amaunting to €5,082 787 (Note 12).

As par shareholder resclufion daled 21 December 2021, the sharehoiders agreed io increase tha
share capital by €39,037 by capitalizing an egual amount from retained eamings: 31,230 allocated o
M&Z Group Limited and 7 807 allocated to Vadala Holdings.

Cn 10 January 2022, the Company rescived o changs the nominal value of the Ordinary shares from
€1 to 0,125 each, Pursuant to the re-nominalization, the Company's issued share capital consists
of €7,000 000 divided into 44,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares having a nominal value of €0.125
@ach and 1,500,000 cumulative radeamabia prefarence sharg capital of €1 each.
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12.

13.

Share capital - continued

on 13 January 2022 ME&Z (Marketing) Limited changed its nams to M&Z p.le and converied iis
status from a privale o o public limited Fabilily company. Certain shareholders of the Compary
offered for sale 11,550,000 ordinary shares of the Company al an offer price of €0.72, pursuani o a
prospectus dated 25 January 2022 for the listing of the Company's ordinary sharas on the official list
of the Malta Stock Exchange.

The share offar was ovar-subscribed and on 11 KMarch 2022, the Company has officially fsted
11,550,000 ordinary shares of a nominal value of €0,125 per share on the officiad list of the Malta
Slock Exchangs.

Other reserves

Othear reserves of €5,082, 797 represent tha difference batween tha consderabon transferred and the
aggregate carmying value of the assels and accumulated operational results of the acquired business
as al 1 January 2020, being the eflaciive dale of acquisition (Note 25). This reserve was offset against
a share capital reduction a5 per resclution dated 8 Movember 2021 (Mot 11)

Deferred taxation

Deferred income laxes are calculated on temporary differences under the lability method and ars
measurad ai the tax rates that are expected to apply fo the pariod whean the asset is realised or the
liabidlity i setiled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have baen anacted by the end of the reporting
perod. The principal fax rate usad is 35% (2020: 35%),

The mevemeant an the deferad fax aocount iz A follows:

2021 2020
€ €
Al beginning of year 210,975 29173
Recognised direclly i profil oF Ioss
Deferred fax credit 39,749 54,450
Recogrised directly i eguity
Crzfarred tax labllhes ot inciuded B acguisition - 117,352
At end of year 250,724 210,975
The balance at 31 December represents:
2021 2020
£ €
Temporary differences ansing on property, plant and equipmeant 131,016 109,748
Tempoeary differences arising on provisions for impalrment
of trade receivables 107 021 83,505
Temporary differences on leases 12,687 18,722

260,724 210,975

The recognised deferred lax assels are expected 1o ba recovered princpally after more than baslve
manihs.
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14,

16,

Lease liabilities

Mon-currant
Cursanl

2021 2020
€ €

1,801,829 2,022 762
220,933 209, 078

2,022,762  2.231.838

The total cash outfiows for leases in 2021 was €334.874 (2020, 297,763, The contraciual
undiscounted cash flows atiributable to lease Habiliies as al 31 December are analysed in Mole

Z.1(ch

The Incremental borrowing rate used for the discounting of the kease paymems 5 45 (2020; 4%).

Borrowings

Curment
Bank averdraft

2021 2020
€ €
2,051,653 -

The Company's borrowings are subject to floating rates of interesl.

The Company's banking facilities as at 31 December amounted to €1, 530,000 (2020: ENIl) and were
sacured by a general hypolhieo over 1he assaels of tha company.

The weaighled average effectiva interesl rates at the year end was 3% (2020: 0%)

Trade and other payables

Current

Trade payables

Amounls due to related parly
Indirect taxation

Accruak

Tetal trade and ofher pavables

Amounis due to related party were unsecurad,

2021 2020

£ £
380,897  1.004,364
75 X
100,108 76,253

1,425,264 782,215

1,906,144 1,862,832

interast free and repayable on demand.
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el

All the Company's revenue was derived from the sale of food products iogether with the provision of
other ancillary services, in the local market.

2021 2020
€ £
Sale of goods 2FTH0452 21,630,742

Thie diractors assass the oparations of the Company as one regorling segment on the basis that the
Company has ona ing of activity based in Malla. Accordingly, no segment disclosuree are being
presantad,

Expenses by nature

2021 2020

€ €

Purchasas (including movamant in inventory) 13,291,687 13279615
Selling and distribuiion expenses 1,798,354 1,580,080
Employes benefit expense (nofe 18) 3,561,814 3,190,928
Depreciaton on property, plant and equipmeant [note 5) 500,540 487,435
Deprecialion on righl-of-use assels (nole &) 245,322 245,322
Professional fees 122,744 77,2495
Repairs and maintenancea 130,829 B4, T8
Short term leasa 39,3499 2,928
Ingurance and licenseas 103,090 128,71
Liilities 119,263 122 659
Impairment kasses on financial and contract assets 38,619 43,858
Other expenses 7,704 8,451
Total cost of sales and adminkstrative expenses 19,959,462 19,252,133

Auwdltor's fees

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial years endad 31 December
2021 and 2020 relate to the following:

2024 2020

£ [

Annual stalutory audit 45,000 35,000
Other assUrance Servicas 20,000 -
Oither nom-audit services 4,600 21,770
69,600 S6.FT0
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Exponses by nature - continused

The following non-audil services kave bean provided by the auditor o the Company:

2021 2020

€ €

Tax advisory and compliance samnices 3,600 14,270
Advisory sendices Inrespect of a capital markets transaction 21,000 ¥ .00
24,600 21,710

During the current year feas amounting to €85.206 have been charged by connectad undertakings
of the Company's auditor 1o the Company, for advieory eervices in respect of capital markeis
transactions, due diigence services milated o a business acquisition and redated tax advisory
services.

Employee benefit expense
2021 2020
€ €
Wages and salaries 3406365 3,047 289
Social sacurity cosis 154,345 143,708

3,561,814 3,190,998

Emplovees benefit expensas have been classified as follows in the siatement of comprehensive

InCome:
2021 2020
£ &
Cost of sales 1,842,788  1,799.900
Adminisirative expenses 1,619,026

1,381,088

3561814 3190508

The average numiber of persons employed by the Company during the fnancial reporting pericd was:

2021 2020

Direct 84 85
Administration 36 35
122 120

a5
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Other operating income

21

2021 2020
E £
Dividand income - T.267
Zain from disposal of propery, plant and equipment 23,272 -
23,272 T.2687

Finance costs
2021 2020
£ €
Irterast on [éasas labillties 86,401 04 432
Bank charges 12,829 10,867
Bank interest - 4. 162
99,330 104,461

Tax expense

2021 2020
E €
Currant fax expense 981,247 B30, B30

Deferred tax credit (nofe 13) (39,7439) (B A0

941,493 816,350

The tax on the Company's results before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
uging the basic tax rate as follows:

2021 F0E0

£ 13

Profit bafore tax 2,714,872 2,278,661

Tax an profit af 35%% 050,240 To6 A3
Tax effact of

Dizallowed expanses for tax purpose - 257

Owver provision of curent tax in prior yaar {27.057) -

Oiher differences 18,315 18,292

Tax expense 841,498 E16,380
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23.

24

Directors’ emoluments
2021 2020
€ €
Salaries and other emoluments 530,767 358,357
Dividends
2021 2020
£ £
Gross dividends paid or declared on ordinary sharea 2,769,231 1,846,154
Tax 3l gouice (969,231} (B46,154 )
Met 1.800.000 1,200,000
Dividends per ordinary share 0.33 0.15
2021 2020
L3 L3
Gross dividends paid or declared on preference sharas 48,303 -
Tax at source (17, 256) -
Mat 32,047 -
Earnings per share

Earnings por shara is basad on the profit for the financial year atiributable (o the shareholders of MEZ
p.lc. divided by tha weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year and ranking
for dividend.

2021 2020

Prafit for tha year (€) 1,773,474 1,480,281
Less dividends on preferance shares [€) (29,250) (2,797}
Profit attributablke to ordinary equity halders of the Company (€) 1,744,224 1,457 484
Weighled average number of ordinary shares in

issue (housands) 9,820,705 5872074
Basic and diluted sarnings per share for the year attributable

to shareholders €018 €025

The Company does nothave any dilutive confracis on own shares inissue,
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26. Business combinations between entities under common control

an 1 January 2020, the Company acquired the operational assets and siorage and distribation
operations of Micallef and Zammit Limied, as a transfer of a going cencem. Micallef and Zammit
Limiled is the Company's Fellow subsidiary, which s also ullimately owned by MEZ Group Limited,
&5 & result of this acquisifion, the Company is expected io increase efficiencies and synergies, ba
mare cos! effective and enhance business growth.

Business combinations bebtween entibies under commaon control, which do not fall within the scope of
IFRS 3, are accounted for using the predecessor method of acocountng. Under the predecessor
method of accounting, assets and liabilities are noomporated at the predecessor camying valies,
which are the carmying amounts of assets and labilities of the acquired entity from its financial
statemants, In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy as disclosed in Mote 1.3, the
Company has applied the predecessor method of accocunding retrospectively as if both eptities had
always been combinad.

The fokowing table summarizes the consideration paid for the acquisition of the operations and the
carrying value of tha assets acquirad:

Carrying value

€

Proparly, plant and equipment 1,160,079
Accumuiated operational resuits taken over (940,554 )
Considaration in cash (1,160,079}
Congideration through allotment of share capital 4,142,203)
Other reserve {5,082,797)

Lpen the effective date of transfer, the parties had agreed thal the consideration (o be paid for the
transfor of business would be parly paid in cash o Micallel and Zammit Limited and, foliowlng an
assignment agreement between the Company’s parent, M&Z Group Limited and Micakaf and Zammit
Limided, tha amount dus by the Company o Micalle! and Zammil Limited for the remaining part of
the consideration, would be settied through the issue of share capital to M&Z Group Limited. The
[ssue of shares would be effected following the finalisation and the signing of the fransfer of business
agreement which was concluded on 20 May 2021 (note 11). Accordingly, as at 31 December 2020,
the obligation for the issue of the fixed amount of shares o M&Z Group Limitsd has been presented
a5 ‘Advances for sheres to be issved’

The other reserve was offset against a share capital reduction as par resolulion dated 2 Novamber
2021 (Note 12),
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Cazh generated from operations

Feconciliation of operating profit io cash generaled from ocperations;

2021 202
€ €
Operating profit 2,814,301 2385878
Adjustments for:
Mowemert in impairment of financial and contract assets 18,619 43,958
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 500,540 487,435
Depreciabon on nighi-of-use assels (note B) 245,322 245,322
Gain on disposal of properdy, plant and
Equipment (23,272) -
Zhanges in working capital:
Imeentories (1.048,194) 146,576
Trade and olher recaivables (1.724,88T) 73,980
Trade and other payables 43,312 (911,604}
Cash generaled from operations B45 741 2,471,563

MNar-cash fransaciions

During 2020, the Company comveried s amounts due 1o parent company and sharehalder of
6,651 557 inlo equity through the issuance and albotment of 5,151,557 ordinary shares and
1,500,000 cumulative redesmable preference shares, each with a nominal value of €1 per share.

A5 per sharsholdar reselution dated 20 May 2021, the sharehokders capitalized the M&Z Group
Limited outstanding amount by Issuing and allotiing 4,142,203 fully paid-up crdinary shares having a
rimra valug of one aurg (€1) each in favour of M2G.

Az par shareholder resolution datad 9 Movember 2021, the shareholders reduced its share capital
from €12,043, 761 (o €6.960,564 resulling o €5,460,963 in Ordinary share capital and €1,500,000 n
Preference shares. The share capital reduction was carried out for the purpose of offsetling the losses
incurrad by the Company as evidenced by its negative reserves amounting 1o €5,032, 787 (MNote 12)

As per shareholder resolution dated 21 December 2021, the shareholders agread fo increase the

share capifal by €39 037 by capifalizing an equal amourt from retained eamings: 31,230 allocated o
MEZ Group Limited and 7 BO7 allocated to Vadala Holdings

Related party transactions

Mz p.lec. forms part of M&Z Group Limited. M&E Group Limited and its subsidianies are considered
by the directors to be refated parties of M&Z p.l.c. Due o common sharehokding, PSC Limited and its
subsidiary are also considered 10 be relatad partles of M&L plc.

The fallowing transaclions were entesed info with relaied pamies during the linanclal reporling perod:

2021 2020
€ €

Purchases and sarvices:
- Other ralated parties 85,635 1110
Dividends paid to shareholders 1,832,047 1,200,000
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Related party iransactions - continued

Year-end balances owed 1o f2llow subsidiaries and other relatad perties, ansing principally rom sales
and purchasas trensactions, are disclosed in note 16 o these financial stalemeants.

Key management personnel compenzalion, consisting of direciors’ remunaalion, has bean disclosed
in nate 23

Events after the reporting period
Listing of M&Z p i, equify on the Malta Stock Exchange

Cn 10 Januery 2022, the Company resolved 1o change the nominal value of the Ordinary shares from
€1 to €0.125 each, Pursuant 1o the re-naminalisation, the Company's issued share capital consists
ol €7,000,000 divided imto 44,000,000 fully paid ardinary shares having a neminal value of €0.125
gach and 1,500,000 cumulative redesmable prefarance share capltal of €1 each.

On 13 January 2022 M&Z (Markaeting) Limited changed its name to M&Z plc and convered is
status from a private io a public limited liabilily company. Cerdain sharehalders of the Company
offerad for sale 11,550,000 ardinary shares of the Company at an offar prica of €0.72, pursuant to a
prospectus dated 25 January 2022 for the ligling of the Company's ordinary shares an tha official fist
iof the Malta Stock Excharge.

The share offer was over-subscribed and on 11 March 2022, the Company has officially listed
11,550,000 ordinary shares of a pominal value of €0.125 per share on the official list of the Malta
Sinck Exchanga.

Acquisition of the represantation nghts of varous brands and relafed assals

The Company concluded negoliations for the acquisition of tha represantation righls of various
brands and relaled assefts from Red October Company Limied, Throwgh this ransaction, the
Company is expanding its range of product categories through the acgquisiion of 8 number of wine,
confectionery, spiits and obacce brands. The fingl contract was signed on 22 Decaember 2021, with
an effective date of 15 January 2022 and the representation rights relating to the portfalio of brands
held by Red Oclober Company Limited was consolidated within the Company™s portfolio as from the
first quarter of 2022, This acquisition will ad the Company 1o Increase its presance in the market and
strengthen the Company’s HORECA offering. The purchase consideration for this acquisition is
€1,492 T83 snd was partly funded by bank debt amournting 1o €1.0 million, drawn down i 2022, with
the remaining conzsideration amounting (o €0.5 milion funded through accumulated reserves.

Confict in Ukraing

Following the military action in Ukraina, the markets are again facing supply arsd pricing pressures,
which will have a bearing on consumer spend as ¢learly some retrenchment is inavitable in
partially mitigating the spirailing cost of essential commodities and services. This will ingvitably also
cxacerbale wage coal inflation thal = welghing on 1he secter because of an acuts shortage of human
rescurces especially in the distribution sector. Such impact cannot yet be guantified ai the time of
approval of thesa financial stalemanis.
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30.

31.

Statutory information
MEZ plc iz alimited BEabilily company and is incorporated in Maka,

The parent company of M&Z ple. & MEZ Group Limited, a company regietered in Malta, with iis
registerad address at MMGH Complex, Industrial Eslate, Marsa MRS 3000,

The ulimate controlling party iz Mr. Paul 5. Camiberi and his immediate family.
Comparative Information

Comperative figures disclosed in the main components of these financial stalements have been
reclagsified to conform with the current year's presentalion format Tor the purpose of fairer
prasentation,

a1








